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ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Corporate GovernanCe
Overview Statement

The Board of Salutica Berhad (“Salutica” or the “Company”) recognises the importance of maintaining the highest 
standards of corporate governance to sustain long term business success. The Board is committed to apply to its best 
ability the recommendations of the  Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2017 and its revision effective 28 April 
2021 (“MCCG”).

The Statement below sets out how the Group has applied the Principles and the extent to which it has complied with 
the Recommendations of the MCCG during the FYE2022 as set out in the Code below:

Principle A: Board Leadership and Effectiveness
Principle B: Effective Audit and Risk Management
Principle C: Integrity in Corporate Reporting and Meaningful Relationship with stakeholders

The Group’s Corporate Governance Report (“CG Report”) base on the prescribed format is available on the Company’s 
website www.salutica.com as well as on the website of Bursa Securities.

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

PART 1 BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

1.1 Board’s Roles and Responsibilities

 The Board is the ultimate decision-making body and is responsible for the strategic direction and oversight of the 
Group.  It enforces standards of accountability with the view of enabling Management to execute its duties and 
responsibilities efficiently and effectively to meet its corporate objectives.

 The Board has also the overall responsibility for putting in place a framework of good corporate governance within 
the Group, including the processes for financial reporting, risk management, internal control and compliance.

 The Company had complied with the requirement of the Paragraph 15.02 of the MMLR of Bursa Securities to 
have at least two (2) Directors or one third (1/3) of its Board members, whichever is higher, to be Independent 
Directors.  The role of the Chairman is held by Chia Chee Hoong, who is an Independent Non-Executive Director.

The Board currently has seven (7) members, comprising the following:

Name Directorship

Chia Chee Hoong Independent Non-Executive

Low Teng Lum Senior Independent Non-Executive

Leow Chan Khiang Independent Non-Executive

Joshua Lim Phan Yih Managing Director

Lim Chong Shyh Senior Executive Director

Chan Shook Ling Executive Director

Joel Lim Phan Hong Alternate Director to Lim Chong Shyh

Joel Lim Phan Hong was appointed on 3 March 2020 as an alternate director to Lim Chong Shyh.

 The Board has established Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) and the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (“ARMC) to enhance the efficiency of the Board Committees in discharging its duties and responsibilities.  
The primary functions of these NRC and ARMC are to assist the Board in overseeing the affairs of the Group and 
they have been entrusted with specific responsibilities and authority.  The combination of diverse professionals 
with varied background, experience and expertise in finance and corporate affairs have also enables the Board 
to discharge its responsibilities effectively and efficiently.
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART 1 BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

1.1 Board’s Roles and Responsibilities (Cont’d)

 The Independent Non-Executive Directors are persons of high credibility and integrity who provides professional 
and independent views, expertise and judgement in discharging their duties and responsibilities.

 The Managing Director / Chief Executive Officer,  Joshua Lim Phan Yih,   is responsible for representing the views 
of the management of the Company.  During the meetings, active discussion and deliberations were made to 
ensure that the intended outcome serves the best interest of the Group.

 As provided for in the Principles of the MCCG and also in the Board Charter, the Board recognises the key role 
it plays in charting the strategic direction of the Group. The Board governance role has the following principal 
responsibilities in discharging its fiduciary and leadership functions:

•	 To	review	and	approve	business	strategies,	plans	and	significant	policies	and	ensure	that	the	Group‘s	goals	
are clearly established, and to monitor implementation and performance of the strategy, policies, plans, 
legal and fiduciary obligations that affect the business by adopting performance appraisal measures;

•	 To	ensure	a	competent	management	team	by	establishing	clear	policies	and	objectives	for	strengthening	
the performance of the Group with a view to proactively build the business through innovation, initiative, 
technology, new products and the development of its business capital;

•	 To	evaluate	whether	the	business	is	being	properly	managed	and	to	ensure	that	the	solvency	of	the	Group	
and the ability of the Group to meet its contractual obligations and to safeguard the Group’s assets;

•	 To	ensure	the	adequacy	of	the	Group’s	business	risk	management	processes,	including	internal	control	
systems and management information systems, systems for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, 
rules, directives and guidelines and controls in areas of significant financial and business risks.  The Board 
has established the Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy to emphasize its stand on ZERO-TOLERANCE on 
corruption and bribery;

•	 To	 establish	 various	Board	Committees	 and	 ensure	 their	 effectiveness	 to	 address	 specific	 issues,	 by	
considering recommendations of the various board committees and acting on their reports;

•	 To	ensure	that	the	financial	statements	of	the	Group	and	the	Company	are	fairly	stated	and	conform	with	
the relevant regulations including acceptable accounting policies that result in balanced and understandable 
financial statements;

•	 To	ensure	appropriate	succession	plan	for	members	of	the	Board	and	senior	management;

•	 To	establish	appropriate	ethical	standards	by	ensuring	that	the	Group	adheres	to	high	corporate	behavior	
standard at all times including transparency in the conduct of business. In this regard, our Directors are 
required to comply with the Directors’ Code of Best Practice which amongst others includes the declaration 
of any personal, professional or business interests, direct or indirect which may conflict with directors 
responsibilities as a Board member and to refrain from voting on such transaction with the Group; and

•	 To	ensure	a	full	and	transparent	communication	and	investor	relations	policy	are	in	place.
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART 1 BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

1.2 The Chairman

 The Chairman’s role is to facilitate the effective conduct of the business of the Board and ensure its smooth 
function.  This includes the following:

•	 determining	the	Board’s	composition
•	 clarifying	board	and	management	responsibilities
•	 planning	and	managing	Committees	meetings
•	 developing	and	evaluating	the	effectiveness	of	the	Board

 Our Chairman, Chia Chee Hoong, is an Independent Non-Executive Director.  He is committed to good corporate 
governance practices and has been leading the Board towards achieving the Company’s strategic goals.

1.3 Clear functions of the Board and those delegated to Management

 In order to fulfils its fiduciary, stewardship and leadership roles and responsibilities, the Board meets regularly or 
at least 4 times a year to review and adopt the Company’s strategy and business plan. 

 The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategic directions and plans to deliver long term values to 
stakeholders and to enhance shareholders’ value.  These responsibilities include the Group’s overall strategy, 
acquisition and divestment policies, capital expenditure, annual budget, review of financial and operational 
performance, and internal controls as well as investment and risk management processes.

 The Board has to ensure  a balance of authority so that no single individual has unfettered authority. The roles and 
responsibilities of the Chairman and Managing Director are clearly segregated to further enhance and preserve 
the balance of authority, power and accountability.  Each Director has a duty to act in the best interests of the 
Group. The Directors, individually and collectively, are aware of their responsibilities to the shareholders and other 
stakeholders for the manner in which the affairs of the Group are managed.

 To ensure the effective discharge of its functions and responsibilities, the Board delegates the day-to-day 
management of the Group’s business and operations to the Management.  The Board oversees the overall 
management of the Group which is delegated to the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), Executive Directors and 
other management personnel of the Group.  The management supports the CEO and implements the running of 
the financial and general business operations of the Group.

1.4 Code of Ethics & Conduct 

 The Board has adopted a Code of Ethics & Conduct for Directors and employees towards their business partners, 
communities and shareholders.  This is incorporated in the Board Charter, which sets out the standard of conduct 
expected of Directors, with the aim to cultivate good ethical conduct that permeates throughout the Group through 
transparency, integrity, and accountability behaviour.

 Management and employees are expected to observe high standards of integrity and fair dealing to customers, 
suppliers, staff and regulators wherever the Company operates.

 This Code is designed to enhance the standard of corporate governance and corporate behaviour with the intention 
of achieving the following objectives:

•	 to	establish	a	standard	of	ethical	behaviour	for	directors	based	on	acceptable	beliefs	and	values.		They	are	
to act with utmost good faith towards the Group in any transaction and to act honestly and responsibly in 
the exercise of his powers in discharging his duties; and

•	 to	uphold	the	spirit	of	professionalism,	objectivity,	transparency,	and	accountability	in	line	with	the	legislation,	
regulations and environmental and social responsibility guidelines governing the Group.

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART 1 BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)

1.5 Board Charter

 The Directors are expected to maintain the highest level of integrity, honesty and accountability for sound corporate 
governance practices.

 The Board Charter was formalised and adopted in 2016 which sets out the roles and responsibilities, operation 
and processes of the Board, and is to ensure that all Board members acting on behalf of the Company are aware 
of their duties and responsibilities as Board members.

 Directors are required to disclose any conflict of interest situations or any material personal interest that they 
may have in the affairs of the Group, as soon as they become aware of the interest and abstain themselves from 
deliberations on that matter.

 The Board reviews the Board Charter periodically and updates the Charter in accordance with the needs of the 
Company and any new regulations that may have an impact to the discharge of the Board’s responsibilities to 
ensure its effectiveness.

 A copy of the Board Charter is available at the Company’s website, www.salutica.com.  It is reviewed annually to 
ensure the Board Charter remains relevant and consistent with the Board’s strategic objectives and goals.

  
1.6  Company Secretaries and Access to Information and Advice

 The Board is regularly updated and advised by the Company Secretaries who are qualified, experienced and 
knowledgeable.  They facilitates the flow of information to the Board and its committee especially statutory updates.  
The Board recognises that the decision making process is highly dependent on the quality of information furnished.  
The Company Secretaries have attended all Board meetings as well as Committee meetings for FYE 2022.

 
 The Board is supported by three (3) Company Secretaries – two (2) Licensed Secretaries and a Chartered 

Accountant.  All the Company Secretaries are qualified to act as company secretary under Section 235(2) of the 
Companies Act 2016.

 
 The Company Secretaries play an important advisory role and is a source of information and advice to the Board 

and its committees on issues relating to compliance with laws, rules, procedures and regulations affecting the 
Group.  The agenda, Board collaterals and minutes of previous meetings of the Board are circulated in advance 
to the Board, before the meetings. The agenda for every meeting permits Board members to review the contents 
of meetings and enable the Chairman to better and more efficiently conduct proceedings during Board meetings.

 The Company Secretaries ensure that the deliberations and decisions at Board and its committee meetings are 
well documented in the  minutes, including matters where Directors abstained from voting or deliberation.
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART 2 STRENGTHEN THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

2.1  Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”)

The NRC consists of three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors as follows:

Name Designation Directorship

Low Teng Lum Chairman Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Chia Chee Hoong Member Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Leow Chan Khiang Member Independent Non-Executive Director

 The NRC was established to assist the Board to identify suitable candidates for appointment as Directors, wherever 
necessary, including developing the Company’s remuneration policy framework and determining the remuneration 
package of its Directors and ensure that compensation is competitive and consistent with the Company’s business 
strategy and long-term objectives.

 The NRC reviewed the tenure of each director and annual re-election of a director are contingent upon satisfactory 
outcome of the annual assessment and evaluation of board members.

The Terms of Reference of the NRC is available for reference on the Company’s website at www.salutica.com.

2.2 Appointment to the Board

 The NRC is responsible for reviewing recommendations of any new appointments to the Board.  In reviewing 
these recommendations, the NRC considers the required mix skills and experience and their time commitment.  
New nominations are reviewed by the NRC before submission to the Board for assessment and approval.

 Apart from assisting the Board in carrying out annual reviews on the mix of skills and experience, contributions and 
other qualities, including core competencies, which the Non-Executive Directors bring to the Board, the NRC also 
carries out the process of evaluating the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the performance and contribution 
of the Chairman and other Directors, including Independent Non-Executive Directors, as well as the Managing 
Director / Chief Executive Officer and identifies areas for improvement and change. The Company Secretaries are 
responsible to ensure that relevant procedures relating to the appointment of new Directors are properly executed. 
New Directors are required to undergo familiarisation programmes and briefings to get a better understanding of 
the Group’s operations and the overall industry. Nominations may come from a wide variety of sources, including 
current directors, senior employees of Salutica, customers, shareholders, industry associations, recruiting firms 
and others.

 Nominations may come from a wide variety of sources, including current directors, senior employees of Salutica, 
customers, shareholders, industry associations, recruiting firms and others.

 
 As an integral element of the process of appointing new Directors, the NRC will assess candidates eligibility 

amongst others, based on the following criteria:

•	 integrity	of	character	and	behaviour;
•	 skills,	knowledge	and	experience;
•	 professionalism;
•	 board	room	diversity,	ie,	gender	diversity;	and
•	 candidate’s	ability	to	discharge	his	fiduciary	and	leadership	functions

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART 2 STRENGTHEN THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD (CONT’D)

2.2 Appointment to the Board (Cont’d)

The NRC had convened two (2) meetings on 23 May 2022 and 22 August 2022, attended by all of its members:

Name of directors Attendance

Chia Chee Hoong 2/2

Low Teng Lum 2/2

Leow Chan Khiang 2/2

The agenda for the two meetings were as follows:

•	 review	the	Directors	Fit	&	Proper	Policy;
•	 consider	and	recommend	the	re-election	of	the	following	Directors	in	accordance	with	Clause	76(3)	at	the	

forthcoming AGM of the Company to the Board :
(a) Joshua Lim Phan Yih
(b) Low Teng Lum

•	 	review	and	recommend	to	the	Board	the	remunerations	of	the	Executive	Directors	for	the		FYE2022;		and	
•	 recommend	to	the	Board	the	proposed	Directors’	fees	for	the	FYE2022.

Directors’ Remuneration

 To ensure its long term success throughout the recruitment and retention of Directors and Key Management 
personnel, remuneration packages are structured to ensure the Company attracts and retains the Directors 
needed to run the Company successfully. The remuneration package of the Non-Executive Directors depends on 
their contribution to the Company in terms of their knowledge and experience. The committee recommends to 
the Board the policy framework of executive remuneration and its cost, and the remuneration package for each 
Executive Director. It is, nevertheless, the ultimate responsibility of the entire Board to approve the remuneration 
of these Directors. 

(a) Details of Directors’ remuneration as at FYE2022 for both the Company and the Group are disclosed in the 
CG Report.  

For FYE 2022, Joel Lim Phan Hong did not receive any director’s remuneration.

(b) The aggregate remuneration paid to key senior management including Executive Directors for the FYE2022 
are as follows:

Range of Remuneration No of persons

RM200,000 to RM250,000 1

RM300,000 to RM350,000 1

RM350,001 to RM400,000 2

RM1,050,000 to RM1,100,000 1

RM1,100,001 to RM1,150,000 1

 The Board is of the view that it would not be in the best interest of the Group to disclose on a named basis 
the senior management’s remuneration component because of industry competitiveness for skilful and 
experienced senior management staff.  

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART 2 STRENGTHEN THE COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD (CONT’D)

2.3 Re-election of directors

 Pursuant to Clause 76(3) of the Company’s Constitution (the “Constitution”) and Paragraph 7.26 of the MMLR, 
all Directors are required to retire by rotation such that each Director will retire at least once every three (3) years 
at the AGM. The Constitution also provide at least one third (1/3) of the Directors are subject to re-election by 
rotation at each AGM and retiring directors can offer themselves for re-election.

 Pursuant to Clause 78, new appointment is subject to retire in next AGM but shall then be eligible for re-election 
but shall not be taken into account in determining the directors who are to retire by rotation at the AGM.

There were no new appointment of Directors during the financial year under review.

2.4   Gender Diversity

 The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not practice discrimination of any form, regardless of age, 
gender or ethnicity.

 The Board does not have a formal policy on gender diversity due the size of the board composition but also 
because the Board is of the view that Board membership should be determined based on a candidate’s character, 
competency, skills, experience and other qualities regardless of gender.

 Despite there being no formal policy, but in line with Practice Note 5.9 of MCGG, the Board has adopted the 
practice to improve gender diversity on the Board. The Board is represented by one (1) female director.

PART 3 REINFORCE INDEPENDENCE OF THE BOARD

3.1 Annual Assessment of Independent Directors

 The Board, through the NRC, conducted evaluation on the effectiveness of the Board, its Committees and assess 
the independence of the Independent Directors annually. The criteria for assessing the independence of an 
Independent Director include the relationship between the Independent Director and the Group and his involvement 
in any significant transaction with the Group.  Among the criteria considered for independency includes the ability 
to exercise independent comments, judgment, and contribution constructively at all times to ensure that the Board 
functions effectively. The relationship between the Independent Directors with any substantial shareholders, any 
Executive Directors, any persons related to any Executive Director or major shareholder, business transactions 
with the Group and their tenure of office will also be reviewed. 

 The evaluation process involves individual Director completing separate assessment in questionnaire format 
regarding the processes of the Board and its Committees, their effectiveness and where improvements can be 
considered.  A scoring mechanism is used.

 The NRC had performed the evaluation process for all of the Directors in June 2022.  The NRC had reviewed 
the independence of the Independent Directors and performance of the Executive Directors and is satisfied with 
the independency and competency demonstrated.  It is of the opinion that all the Independent Directors remain 
objective in expressing their views and in participating in deliberations and decision making process of the Board 
and its committees.

3.2 Tenure of Independent Directors

 The Board has adopted a nine-year policy for Independent Non-Executive Directors. None of the current 
independent Board members had served the Company for more than nine (9) years as per the recommendations 
of the MCGG.

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART 3 REINFORCE INDEPENDENCE OF THE BOARD (CONT’D)

3.2 Tenure of Independent Directors (Cont’d)

 Should the tenure of an Independent Director exceed nine (9) years, shareholders’ approval will be sought at 
an AGM for such Director to remain as an Independent Director or alternatively, the Director concerned will be 
re-designated as a Non-Independent Director if his or her services are still required.  Nevertheless, none of the 
Independent Non-Executive Directors exceeded a cumulative term of nine (9) years with the Company.

3.3 Roles of Independent Non-Executive Chairman, CEO and Executive Directors

 The Chairman, Chia Chee Hoong’s role is to facilitate the effective conduct of business of the Board and ensure its 
smooth functioning.  The CEO, Joshua Lim, ensures the smooth running of the day-to-day operations, monitors 
and evaluates the implementation of policies, strategies, business plans and sets the pace for its operations and 
future development of the Group.  He is assisted by a group of senior, experienced Executive Directors and Senior 
Management.

 The Chairman has the obligation to preside at various meetings, namely during the AGM and Board meetings in 
order to address issues to be highlighted by and to members independently.

 Although all the Directors have equal responsibilities for the Company’s operations, the role of the Independent 
Non-Executive Directors is particularly important in providing professional and independent views, expertise and 
judgement in exercising their duties and responsibilities taking into account the interests of the Company, the 
shareholders, the employees and other stakeholders.  

3.4 Board Balance

 The Board comprises a mix of qualified and experienced Directors with diverse experience, background and 
expertise.

 The Executive Directors are primarily responsible for the day-to-day running of the Group’s business, as well as 
implementing the policies and decisions of the Board.  They each held different functions of the Company and 
contribute cohesively to the success of the Group.

 The Independent Directors act independently of management, do not participate in any business dealings and 
are not involved in any business relationship with the Group that may impair their judgment and decision making.

 Together the three (3) Executive Directors, three (3) Independent Directors and one (1) alternate Directors constitute 
a balanced Board comprised of professionals in diverse backgrounds, experience and wide mix of skills.

Currently, the Board consists of seven (7) members, as designated below:

Name Directorship

Chia Chee Hoong Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Low Teng Lum Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Leow Chan Khiang Independent Non-Executive Director

Joshua Lim Phan Yih Managing Director / Chief Executive Officer

Lim Chong Shyh Senior Executive Director

Chan Shook Ling Executive Director

Joel Lim Phan Hong Alternate Director to Lim Chong Shyh

A brief profile of each Director is presented in this Annual Report.

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART 4 FOSTER COMMITMENT OF DIRECTORS

4.1 Board Meeting and Attendance

 The Directors are aware of the time commitment expected from each of them to attend to Board and Committee 
meetings and other type of meetings. They do not hold directorship in more than five (5) public listed companies. 

During the FYE2022, the Board held five (5) meetings with the full attendance as follows:

Name of directors No. of meetings held Attendance

Chia Chee Hoong 5 5/5

Low Teng Lum 5 5/5

Leow Chan Khiang 5 5/5

Joshua Lim Phan Yih 5 5/5

Lim Chong Shyh 5 5/5

Chan Shook Ling 5 5/5

 The Board, via the NRC committee, reviews the time commitment of the Directors annually and ensures they are 
able to carry out their duties and contributions to the Board.

 The Board is satisfied that the Directors are committed to attend meetings in order to discharge their duties and 
responsibilities effectively and efficiently.

4.2 Supply of Information

 Each Director was provided with the agenda and a full set of the Board Papers prior to each Board Meeting with the 
aim of enabling the Directors to make fully informed decision at the Board Meetings.  All scheduled meetings held 
during the year were preceded by notice of meetings issued by the Company Secretaries.  Senior management are 
invited to attend Board meetings, whenever necessary, to provide additional information on the relevant agenda 
items tabled at Board meetings.  The Directors may also engage independent professionals at the Company’s 
expense on specialised issues to enable the Directors to discharge their duties with adequate knowledge on the 
matters deliberated.

 The Board recognises that the Company Secretaries are suitably qualified and capable of carrying out the duties 
as required. All Directors have access to all information within the Company as well as the advices and services 
of the Company Secretaries who are responsible for ensuring the Board’s meeting procedures are adhered to 
and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with.

 
 The proceedings and resolutions passed at each Board Meeting are recorded in the minutes of the meetings, 

which are kept in the Minutes Book at the registered office. Besides Board meetings, the Board also exercises 
control on matters that require Board approval through the circulation of Director’s written resolutions.

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (CONT’D)

PART 4 FOSTER COMMITMENT OF DIRECTORS (CONT’D)

4.3 Directors’ Training

 The Group acknowledges the importance of continuous training and learning to enable the Directors to stay in tune 
with the state of the economy, technological advancements,  legislation and regulations updates and corporate 
strategies affecting the Group so as to effectively discharge their duties and responsibilities.

 All the Directors have successfully completed their Mandatory Accreditation Programme (“MAP”) as required by 
Bursa Securities.

During the FYE2022, all Directors have attended the following training programmes as summarised below:

Name of directors Seminar/Training Programmes attended Date

Chia Chee Hoong •	 Crucial	 Legal	Principles	 in	 the	Digital	 Age	by	Malaysia	
Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) 

•	 Board	Assessment:	A	key	cog	in	an	effective	governance	
structure by MIA

•	 ESG	Awareness	Briefing	by	Tricor	Axecelasia	Sdn.Bhd.

•	 22	October	2021

•	 25	October	2021

•	 26	May	2022

Low Teng Lum •	 Corporate	Law	&	Practice	in	turbulent	times?	by	University	
of New South Wales

•	 Pandemic	Recovery	and	East	Asian	Economic	Resilience	
by Jeffrey Cheah Institute of Southeast Asia

•	 Transfer	Pricing	Audits	and	Disputes	Prevention	Strategies	
by Crowe 

•	 AOB	Conversation	with	 Audit	 Committees	 by	 AOB,	
Securities Commission Malaysia

•	 ESG	Awareness	Briefing	by	Tricor	Axecelasia	Sdn.Bhd.
•	 Powertalk	series	#	1,	2	&	3	–	ESG	Journey	by	Institute	of	

Corporate Directors Malaysia

•	 3	September	
2021

•	 24	September	
2021

•	 14	October	2021

•	 6	December	2021

•	 26	May	2022
•	 27	–	29	May	2022

Leow Chan Khiang •	 Detecting	 financial	 fraud,	 value	 of	 Enterprise	 Risk	
Management in Strategic Planning and Cyber Security 
Risk

•	 ESG	Awareness	Briefing	by	Tricor	Axecelasia	Sdn.Bhd.

•	 24	March	2022

•	 26	May	2022

Joshua Lim
Phan Yih

•	 Crucial	 Legal	Principles	 in	 the	Digital	 Age	by	Malaysia	
Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) 

•	 Board	Assessment:	A	key	cog	in	an	effective	governance	
structure by MIA

•	 ESG	Awareness	Briefing	by	Tricor	Axecelasia	Sdn.Bhd.

•	 22	October	2021

•	 25	October	2021

•	 26	May	2022

Lim Chong Shyh •	 Crucial	Legal	Principles	in	the	Digital	Age	by	MIA
•	 Board	Assessment:	A	key	cog	in	an	effective	governance	

structure by MIA
•	 ESG	Awareness	Briefing	by	Tricor	Axecelasia	Sdn.Bhd.

•	 22	October	2021
•	 25	October	2021

•	 26	May	2022

Chan Shook Ling •	 Business	strategy	and	financial	reporting	considerations	in	
response to the impact of Covid-19 and Post Pandemic 
Recovery by ACCA Malaysia (“ACCA”)

•	 Crucial	Legal	Principles	in	the	Digital	Age	by	MIA
•	 Board	Assessment:	A	key	cog	in	an	effective	governance	

structure by MIA
•	 2022	Budget	Seminar	by	MIA
•	 ESG	Awareness	Briefing	by	Tricor	Axecelasia	Sdn.Bhd.

•	 12	October	2021

•	 22	October	2021
•	 25	October	2021

•	 6	December	2021
•	 26	May	2022

 

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

PART 5 UPHOLD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING BY THE COMPANY

5.1 Audit and Risk Management Committee

 The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control and risk management 
for the Group. The terms of the Company’s Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) and its activities 
during the financial year are outlined under the ARMC Report in  this Annual Report.

5.2 Compliance with Applicable Financial Reporting Standards

 The Board is committed to provide a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s financial 
position and prospects by making sure the financial statements and quarterly announcements are prepared in 
accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

 The Board is assisted by the ARMC in reviewing the appropriateness of accounting policies applied by the Group.  
The ARMC also assists the Board in scrutinising information for disclosure to ensure accuracy, adequacy and 
completeness. The Responsibility Statement by the Directors pursuant to the MMLR of Bursa Securities is set 
out in this Annual Report.

 In addition to the above, the Company also undertook an independent assessment of the internal control system 
and the ARMC has been assured that no material issues or major deficiencies have been detected which pose 
a high risk to the overall internal controls under review. 

5.3 Assessment of Suitability and Independence of External Auditors

 On 28 February 2022, the Company had appointed Crowe Malaysia PLT (“Crowe”) as the auditors of the Group.  
The criteria for the external auditors’ assessment include quality of service, sufficiency of resources, independence, 
objectivity and professionalism.

 The Board through its ARMC maintains a good and transparent relationship with the external auditors, Crowe. 
The ARMC has been explicitly accorded the power to communicate directly with the external auditors without the 
presence of the Executive Directors. They are also invited to attend the ARMC meetings to facilitate the exchange 
of view on issues requiring attention.

 During the financial year under review, Crowe have presented its Audit Plan for FYE2022.  The Audit Plan includes 
amongst others, audit strategy, audit approach towards financial statements as at and for the year ending 30 
June 2022 and reporting timetable besides the updates on the developments in laws and regulations.

 Crowe had also presented their Audit Committee Report to the Board which includes summary of significant 
matters identified during the audit of the Group.  This includes significant auditing and accounting matters, internal 
control recommendations, key audit matters and communication of other matters such as audit responsibilities 
and scope, independence, fraud, development in laws and Crowe’s views on the significant qualitative aspects 
of the Group’s accounting practices.

 In addition, Crowe are invited to attend the Company’s AGM so that they are available to answer any questions 
from shareholders on the conduct of the statutory audit and the content of the audited financial statements.

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

PART 6 RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISKS OF THE COMPANY

The Board has in place a process of identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks encountered by the Group in 
achieving its objectives and strategies.  To achieve this, the Group has established an appropriate control environment 
and framework as well as reviewing its adequacy and effectiveness.  The internal control system is designed to meet 
the Group’s needs in managing risks.

The following represent the key elements of the Company’s risk management and internal control structure:

a) setup a Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) comprising the Managing Director and senior management;
b) ARMC reviews the findings of the RMC and risk register of the Group.  Key risks identified are scored on likelihood 

of the risks occurring and the magnitude of its impact;
c) adopt clear and defined lines of responsibility and delegation of authority;
d) review and approve annual budget for the Group which sets out business prospects and opportunities;
e) review of the Group’s business performance by the Board quarterly, which also covers the assessment of the 

impact of changes in business and competitive environment; 
f) adopt active participation and involvement by the Managing Director / CEO and senior management in major 

business decisions; and
g) Adopt the Whistle Blowing Policy and the Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy to identify, evaluate and manage key 

risks

The Board is committed towards improving the risk management to meet its corporate objectives with acceptable level 
of risks which are aligned to the Groups’ risk appetite. 

The feature of risk management and internal control framework to identify and manage the significant operational, financial 
and market risks associated with the Group’s business are disclosed in the ARMC report, Corporate Governance Overview 
Statement and Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control (“SORMIC”) in this Annual Report.

PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS

PART 7 ENSURE TIMELY AND HIGH QUALITY DISCLOSURE

7.1 Corporate Disclosure Policies

 The Board has ensured the timely disclosure of material information and recognises the importance of an effective 
communication channel between the Board, shareholders and general public and be in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements in the MMLR.  With this in mind, the Board  had established corporate disclosure policies 
and procedures to enable comprehensive, accurate and timely disclosures relating to the Company and its 
subsidiary to be made to the regulators, shareholders and stakeholders. Accordingly, the Board has formalised 
pertinent corporate disclosure policies not only to comply with the disclosure requirements as stipulated in the 
MMLR, but also setting out the persons authorised and responsible to approve and disclose material information 
to the regulators, the shareholders and other stakeholders.

 The Board is mindful that information which is expected to be material must be announced immediately, and that 
the confidential information should be handled properly to avoid leakage and improper use of such information.

This corporate disclosure policy is available at our website: www.salutica.com

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS (CONT’D)

PART 7 ENSURE TIMELY AND HIGH QUALITY DISCLOSURE (CONT’D)

7.2  Leverage on Information Technology for Effective Dissemination of Information

 The Board has established a dedicated section for corporate information, an Investor Relations section in the  
Company’s website www.salutica.com which provides all relevant information such as financial information, annual 
reports, corporate governance report (“CG Report”)  and is accessible by the public. 

 This Investor Relations section enhances the Investor Relations function by including all announcements made by 
the Company. The announcements of the quarterly financial results are also made via Bursa LINK immediately after 
the Board’s approval. This is important in ensuring equal and fair access to information by the investing public.

 This is also a section focusing on corporate governance that includes statements on Corporate Governance, 
Terms of Reference of the ARMC and NRC, Board Charter, Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy, Code of Conduct 
and Ethics, Whistle Blowing Policy and Directors Fit & Proper Policy.

 The website also enable shareholders and investors to access information on the Group’s products, awards 
recognition and business activities. 

PART 8 STRENGTHEN RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COMPANY AND SHAREHOLDERS

8.1 Encourage Shareholder Participation at General Meeting

 The Board is responsible to ensure there is proper communication channel with its shareholders. The AGM is the 
principal forum for shareholders’ dialogue which allows the shareholders to review the Company’s performance 
via the Company’s Annual Report and pose questions to the Board for clarification. At the AGM, the shareholders 
participate in deliberating resolutions being proposed or on the Company’s operations in general.

 The Notice of AGM is circulated to the shareholders at least twenty-eight (28) days before the date of the meeting 
to enable them to go through the Annual Report and papers supporting the resolutions proposed. The outcome 
of the AGM is then announced to Bursa Securities on the same meeting day. Minutes of AGM would also need 
to be uploaded on our website.

 In view of the Covid-19 pandemic and as part of our safety measures, the 9th AGM of the Company was conducted 
fully virtual through online meeting platform.

8.2 Voting by Poll

 Pursuant to paragraph 8.29A of the MMLR, any resolution set out in the notice of any general meeting, or in any 
notice of resolution which  may properly be moved and its intended to be moved at the general meeting, is voted 
by poll.

Hence, all resolutions as set out in the notice of the Company’s forthcoming AGM will be voted by poll.  

The Board appoints an independent scrutineer to validate the votes cast at the AGM.

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS (CONT’D)

PART 8 STRENGTHEN RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COMPANY AND SHAREHOLDERS (CONT’D)

8.3 Investor Relations and Shareholder engagement

 The Board recognises that transparency and accountability to its shareholders and investors are important. 
Therefore, the Board is committed to promote effective communication and proactive engagement with shareholders 
and investors.

 The AGM and other general meetings are an opportunity to communicate directly with shareholders and 
encourages attendance and participation in dialogue Information on the Company’s performance and any significant 
developments on all material business matters are disseminated in a timely manner.

 The Board and management of Company communicate regularly with its shareholders and other stakeholders 
through the following mediums:

•	 Announcements	through	Bursa	Securities	and	Bursa	LINK

 The Board ensures timely announcements of financial results on a quarterly basis as well as significant 
corporate developments are made to Bursa Securities.

•	 Analyst	Briefings

 Analyst briefings are held from time to time as a means of effective communication that enables the Board 
and the management to convey information relating to the Company’s corporate strategy and other matters 
affecting the shareholders’ interests, as well as provide clearer understanding of the Company’s financial 
and operational performance.

•	 One-to-One	Meetings	and	conference	calls

 The Company aims to communicate fully with fund managers, investors and analysts upon request and 
availability. Regular, one-to-one meetings or conference calls with analysts and fund managers are held to 
provide updates on the Company’s strategy and financial performance.

•	 Annual	report

 The Board ensures that the annual report are delivered within four months from the close of the financial 
year and at least twenty eight (28) days before the AGM to enable the shareholders to obtain the Group’s 
past year performance and also to provide adequate time for the shareholders to review the report.

•	 Official	Company	Website	

 The Company’s website, www.salutica.com is updated with information on the Company and its business 
for both shareholders and the general public.

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT 

The Board is of the view that the Group is substantially in compliance with the principles and practices set out in the 
MCCG and relevant Main Market Listing Requirements for the financial year under review.

This Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors dated 14 October 2022.

Corporate Governance overview Statement (Cont’d)
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audit and riSk ManaGeMent
COmmittee repOrt

INTRODUCTION

The Audit committee was established by the Board on 5 April 2016 before changing its name to Audit and Risk 
Management committee (“ARMC”) on 15 October 2018.

The Terms of Reference of the ARMC can be found on the Company’s website www.salutica.com/InvestorRelations.

1. Composition

 The members of the ARMC are appointed by the Board from amongst the Non-Executive Directors and consist 
of three members, all of whom are Independent Directors.

 The composition of the ARMC comply with the requirements of Paragraph 15.09 of the MMLR, with two members, 
Mr. Leow Chan Khiang and Mr. Low Teng Lum being Chartered Accountants registered with the Malaysia Institute 
of Accountants.

The composition of the ARMC is as follows:

Name Designation Directorship

Leow Chan Khiang Chairman Independent Non-Executive Director

Chia Chee Hoong Member Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Low Teng Lum Member Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

 There is no alternate Director or current partner or employee of the Group’s external auditor appointed as a member 
of the ARMC.

 In the event of any vacancy in the ARMC resulting in non-compliance in respect of composition of ARMC, the 
Company shall fill the vacancy within three months.

  
2. Attendance at meetings

 During the FYE2022, the ARMC held six meetings, in the presence of the Company Secretaries and the Executive 
Directors.

 External Auditors and Internal Auditors were invited to certain meetings to present their audit plan and reports 
and respond to queries during the meetings.

The details of the attendance for the financial year under review are as follows:

Member No. of meetings attended in FYE2022

Leow Chan Khiang 6/6

Chia Chee Hoong 6/6

Low Teng Lum 6/6

3. Chairman

 The Chairman of the ARMC is Mr. Leow Chan Khiang who is an Independent Non-Executive Director. In the 
absence of the Chairman, the members shall elect any one of the members present at the meeting to be the 
Chairman of the meeting.
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audit and risk Management Committee report (Cont’d)

4. Secretaries

The Company Secretaries shall be the Secretaries of the ARMC.

5. Quorum and Meeting Procedures

 The quorum of the meeting of the ARMC shall be at least two members, a majority of whom must be Independent 
Directors.

 At least four meetings shall be convened during a year. The meetings shall be scheduled regularly by the Secretaries 
and due notice shall be distributed to the members before the meeting together with the agenda and supporting 
papers. The minutes of the meeting shall be recorded for reference and inspection purposes. The Executive 
Directors, Accountants, or the representatives of the internal and external auditors may be present in any meeting 
upon the invitation of the ARMC.

6. Authority

The ARMC shall have the authority to do the following:

a. to carry out its function within its terms of reference. All employees of the Group shall be directed to co-
operate as requested by the ARMC;

b. have full and unlimited/unrestricted access to all information, documents and resources which are required 
to perform its duties;

c. be able to obtain, at the expense of the Company, any other independent professional advice, if required;
d. be able to convene meetings with external auditors, internal auditors or both, excluding the attendance of 

the Executive Directors and employees of the Company, whenever deemed necessary;
e. be able to make relevant reports when necessary to the relevant authorities if any breach of the rules, 

regulations and/or Listing Requirements of the Bursa Securities  has occurred; and
f. have direct communication channels with the external auditors and person(s) carrying out the internal audit 

function.

7. Functions

The ARMC shall discharge the following duties and responsibilities and report the same to the Board:

a. to review the following with the external auditors:

i. held meetings with the external auditors during the year and reviewed and discussed their audit plan.  
One meeting was held without the presence of the management;

ii. its evaluation of the system of internal control including their assessment of the financial reporting 
risk profile of the Group;

iii. the audit report;
iv. the assistance given by the employees and the management of the Company and the Group to the 

external auditors; and
v. accounting and auditing findings and internal control recommendations presented during the audit 

committee meetings.

b. to review the following with the internal auditors:

i. the adoption of a risks management framework and the annual approval of its mitigation plan to 
manage key strategic, financial and operational risks identified by the RMC;     

ii. the adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and resources of the internal audit function and 
that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work; and

iii. the internal audit programs, processes, the results of the internal audit programs, processes or 
investigation undertaken and whether or not appropriate action is taken on the recommendations of 
the internal audit function.
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7. Functions (Cont’d)

c. to review the quarterly unaudited financial results and audited financial statements, prior to the approval of 
the Board, particularly focusing on:

i. changes in or implementation of major accounting policies;
ii. significant and unusual events; and
iii. compliance with approved accounting standards and other legal requirements.

d. to monitor any related party transaction and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Group 
including any transaction, procedure or course of conduct that raises questions of management integrity;

e. to consider the appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors of the Company;

f. to review and monitor the suitability and independence and evaluate the performance of the external auditors 
for re-appointment;

g. to obtain written assurance from the external auditors confirming that they are, and have been, independent 
throughout the conduct of the audit engagement in accordance with the terms of all relevant professional 
and regulatory requirements; and

h. to review and report such other matters as may be delegated by the Board from time to time.

8. Activities of the ARMC

 The main activities carried out by the ARMC during the FYE2022 in discharging their duties and responsibilities 
are summarized below:

i. reviewed and approved the Audit Planning Memorandum on the statutory audit of the Group for the FYE2022 
prepared by external auditors;

ii. reviewed with the external auditors the result of the audit work performed, the Audit Summary Memorandum 
and the management letter or representation, including management response;

iii. held two meetings with the External Auditors and two meetings with the Internal Auditors and also one 
private sessions with the External Auditors without the presence of the Executive Directors.

iv. reviewed the independence and competency of the external auditors and recommended to the Board on 
their re-appointment and the fixing of its audit fees;

v. reviewed the terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, the Board Charter, Code 
of Conduct and Ethics, Corporate Disclosure, Whistle Blowing and Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policies 
since the last financial year, a copy of which can be found on the Company’s website www.salutica.com.

vi. reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for the Group which covered internal control system, risk 
register and update as per Risk Management Framework and follow-up of observations reported during 
the internal audit performed;

vii. reviewed related party transactions and conflict of interest situation that may arise within the Company or 
the Group during each quarterly meetings;

viii. reviewed and recommended improvements to the existing internal controls, risk management as reported 
by internal auditor, Tricor Axcelasia Sdn.Bhd.(“Tricor Axcelasia”);  

ix.  reviewed the quarterly and annual financial statements of the Company and the Group together with the 
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer and Key Finance Personnel as well as the External Auditors, 
focusing particularly on significant changes to accounting policies and practices, going concern assumptions, 
review significant accounting estimates and management judgments, adjustments arising from the audits, 
compliance with the relevant accounting standards and other legal requirements to ensure that the financial 
statements presented a true and fair view of the Group’s financial performance before recommending them 
to the Board for approval and release of the same to Bursa Securities;

x. reviewed the disclosure statements on the Statement on Corporate Governance, Audit and Risk Management 
Committee Report, Directors’ Responsibility Statement, MDNA and Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control recommended for their adoption by the Board and Sustainability Statement for inclusion in 
this Annual Report; and

xi. reviewed the Corporate Governance report pursuant to Paragraph 15.25 of MMLR of Bursa Securities.

audit and risk Management Committee report (Cont’d)
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9. Internal Audit Function

 During the FYE2022, the Group had engaged an independent professional service provider, Tricor Axcelasia Sdn. 
Bhd. (“Tricor Axcelasia”) to provide independent assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s 
system of internal controls and to advise the Group in areas that requires further improvement.  The work performed 
is guided by the International Professional Practices Framework for Internal Auditing from the Institute of Internal 
Auditors (“IIA”). 

 The internal audit team is headed by Mr. Chang Ming Chew who is the person responsible for the outsourced internal 
audit function of the Group.  He is an executive director of Tricor Axcelasia and has the following qualifications 
and memberships:

i. Certified Internal Auditor and Certification in Risk Management Assurance from the IIA;
ii. Certified Information Systems Auditor from the ISACA;
iii. Professional Member of the Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia;
iv.	 Member	of	the	Association	of	Chartered	Certified	Accountants	(UK);	and
v. Member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

 Tricor Axcelasia assigned 3 to 4 staff per visit including the Engagement Director to perform internal audit for our 
Group.  The staff of the internal audit team possesses professional qualifications and/or university degree.  Most 
of them are members of the Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia.

There were two internal control review cycles performed during FYE2022 as follows:

i) Review of the Execution of Strategic Plans & Critical Mitigation Controls, and follow-up on previous internal 
audit findings in December 2021; and

ii) Review of the Safety, Health and Welfare of Workers, and follow-up on previous internal audit findings in 
May 2022.

 Tricor Axcelasia presented their internal audit reports to the ARMC in two separate meetings and concluded that 
the critical process risks have been identified and relevant control activities have been implemented with some 
improvements needed.

  
The professional fee incurred for the internal audit performed for the FYE2022 was RM25,000.

This Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors dated 14 October 2022.

audit and risk Management Committee report (Cont’d)
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INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of Salutica Berhad, (“the Board”)  continues with its commitment to maintain sound systems of 
risk management and internal control which governs the Group’s culture, operations and processes. 

The Board is pleased to provide the following Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control (“SORMIC”) as 
required under Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements which outlines the nature and scope of 
the risk management and internal control of the Group during the financial year under review until the date of approval 
of this Statement.

1. Board’s Responsibility

 The Board and the senior management of the Group recognises the importance of maintaining a sound system 
of internal control and are responsible for identifying principal risks, ensuring the implementation of appropriate 
systems to manage these risks and reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s system of internal controls

 The Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) recognises that internal control is an integral part of 
managing risks and their overall responsibilities to maintain a sound system of risk management and internal 
controls that covers not only financial controls but operational and compliance controls, and risk management 
practices throughout the Group. In this respect, the Board through its ARMC has established an ongoing process 
to identify, evaluate and manage risks.  This includes enhancing the Group’s risk management and internal control 
system as and when there are changes to the business environment and regulatory requirements.  

 The ARMC is supported by the outsourced Internal Audit Function, in relation to the provision of an independent 
assessment and evaluation of the Group’s risk management while the Management assists the Board in the 
implementation of the Board’s policies and procedures on risk management and internal control by identifying 
and assessing the risks faced, and in the design, operation and monitoring of suitable internal controls to manage 
these risks. 

 Due to the inherent limitations in the system of internal controls and risk management, such system can only 
manage rather than eliminate all risks and as such, they can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement of financial information and records or against financial losses or fraud.  The Board 
endeavours to maintain an adequate system of risk management and internal control to support the Group’s 
operations.

2. Risk Management Framework

 The Board recognises the importance of continuous review and improvement to its risk management process 
to keep abreast with the industry requirements and adapt to changes in its business environment. In this regard, 
the Board has established an ongoing risk management commitment for identifying, evaluating and managing 
significant risks to which the Group is exposed by establishing a risk management framework for the Group. The 
risk management framework is established as follows:

(a) Structure

 The Group adopts a decentralised approach to risk management, whereby all employees take ownership 
and accountability for risks at their respective levels. It uses key risk registers for identification of risk areas, 
possibility of risk occurring and its potential impact to the Group.

 The process of risk management is overseen by the Heads of Department (“HOD”). Risk assessment is 
integrated into strategic planning and all other activities of the Group. Risk assessments are conducted on 
new ventures and activities, including projects, processes, systems and commercial activities to ensure 
that these are aligned with  the Group’s objectives and goals. Any risks or opportunities arising from these 
assessments will be identified, analysed and reported to the Risk Management Committee (“RMC”).

 The RMC’s key function is to review the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management for the Group.  It 
is responsible for identifying the key potential risks of all operating units within the Group.  It also reviews 
the framework for risk identification, measurement, monitoring and control on a regular basis to ensure it 
remains effective and relevant.  All employees are encouraged to contribute towards the identification  of 
new risks and implementation of new controls.

StateMent on riSk ManaGeMent
and internal COntrOl
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2. Risk Management Framework (Cont’d)

(b) Risk Assessment

 The Group maintains a register of principal risks specific to the Group together with their corresponding 
controls, which are categorised as follows:

•	 Strategic:	Which	are	risks	that	affect	the	overall	direction	of	the	business.
•	 Compliance:	Which	are	risks	associated	with	the	laws	and	regulations.
•	 Financial:	Which	are	risks	associated	with	financial	processing	and	reporting.
•	 Operational:	Which	are	risks	that	impact	the	delivery	of	the	Group’s	products	and	services.	

 The Group maintains a strategic risk register whilst all departments within the Group maintain their 
respective operational risk registers. The Group is committed to ensuring that all staff, particularly Heads of 
Department are provided with adequate guidance and training on the principles of risk management and 
their responsibilities in order to be in compliant with the risk management framework setup. 

 During the financial year, the Board reviews, on quarterly or when required, the design and monitors the 
operating effectiveness of the internal controls, including the development of an appropriate risk management 
culture across the Group.

 The Board is supported by the RMC headed by its Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer, based on the 
advice from the ARMC.  The RMC, which comprises key persons from all departments, submits its reports 
to the ARMC and the Board on a quarterly basis.  

•	 ARMC

 The ARMC reviews, monitors and evaluates the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s internal 
controls and financial and risk management issues raised by the External and Internal Auditors, 
regulatory authorities and management.  The review includes reviewing written reports from the 
Internal and External Auditors. As part of the ongoing control improvement process, management will 
take appropriate action to address the control recommendations made by the Internal and External 
Auditors.

 The ARMC also convenes meetings with External Auditors, Internal Auditors, or both without the 
presence of management.  In addition, the ARMC reviews the adequacy of the scope, functions 
and competency of the Internal and External Auditors.  The ARMC also reviews and evaluates the 
procedures established to ensure compliance with applicable legislation, the Listing Requirements 
and the Group’s system of internal controls.

 The ARMC report included in this Annual Report contains further details on the activities undertaken 
by the ARMC in FYE 2022.

•	 The	Board

 The Board is committed to conduct business fairly and ethically, and in compliance with the law and 
regulations. The Board holds regularly discussions with the ARMC and management and considers 
their reports on matters relating to internal controls and deliberates on their recommendations for 
implementation. The Board’s Charter and Code of Conduct and Ethics stipulates how Directors should 
conduct themselves in all business matters.  

Statement on risk Management and internal Control (Cont’d)
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3. System of Internal Controls

 The system of internal control incorporates risk management. This system encompasses a number of elements 
that together facilitate effective and efficient operations, enabling the Group to respond to a variety of operational, 
financial, compliance and strategic risks.

 The Board considers risk assessment and internal control to be fundamental to the Group in achieving its corporate 
objectives within reasonable risk profile and is committed to ensure effective and efficient internal control system 
is implemented across the Group.

The key elements of the Group’s internal control system are described below:

(a) Control Environment

 The importance of a proper control environment is emphasised throughout the organisation. Focus is directed 
towards the quality and abilities of the Group’s employees. They are provided with continuing education and 
training to enhance their skills and to reinforce qualities of professionalism  and integrity.  Such training also 
includes internal briefings and external seminars for selected employees to enhance the level of awareness 
and knowledge on matters relating to risk management and internal control.

(b) Control Structure

 The Board has established an organisation structure with clearly defined lines of accountability and delegated 
authority. This includes well-defined responsibilities of Board committees and various management levels, 
including authorisation levels for all aspects of the business.

The key elements of the Group’s control structure are as follows:

•	 Management’s	responsibilities

 Policies and Procedures: Internal control procedures are set out in a series of standard operating 
policies and procedures to govern the Group’s various business processes.  The procedures are 
periodically updated when the need arises to meet the changing environment to ensure its relevancy.

 Human Capital: Emphasis is placed on enhancing the quality and ability of employees through a 
wide variety of training programmes to enhance their knowledge and skills.  The Group follows a 
set of recruitment guidelines for hiring and termination of staff and annual performance appraisals to 
enhance the level of staff competency in carrying out their duties and responsibilities. Each employee 
is given the Employee Handbook which defines the core principles, ethical standard and expected 
code of conduct which employees should follow in achieving the Group’s vision and objectives.

 Code of Ethics and Conduct (the “Code”): The Group established the Code to ensure that working 
environments and conditions are safe where conflict of interests are avoided.  Employees are treated 
with respect and dignity and business operations are conducted ethically.

 Limits of Authority: The Board approves transactions exceeding certain threshold limits, while delegating 
authority for transactions within those limits to authorised personnel in order to facilitate operational 
efficiency.

Statement on risk Management and internal Control (Cont’d)
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3. System of Internal Controls (Cont’d)

(b) Control Structure (Cont’d)

•	 Management’s	responsibilities	(Cont’d)

 Related Party Transactions: The Board ensures that related party transactions are undertaken in 
compliance with the Group’s policy – that are carried out on terms agreed between both parties, 
which are in the best interest of the Group.

 
 Whistle Blowing Policy: The Board implemented the Whistle Blowing Policy in 2015 and review the 

policy annually to ensure relevance and adequacy. The aim of the policy is to provide an avenue for 
staff or any other persons including general public to raise concerns on any wrongdoing committed 
by staff of the Group relating to mismanagement or abuse of authority, corruption or any breach of 
laws and regulations. Additionally, it also provides for any complaint to be reported directly to the 
Chairman of the ARMC.

 Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy:  The Group and its management is committed to conduct its 
businesses with uncompromising integrity and professionalism and in this regard has established 
the Anti-Corruption and Bribery Policy in 2019.  The policy sets out the principles and scope of 
responsibilities amongst others, ZERO TOLERANCE on corruption and bribery with all employees 
and business partners.  Declaration of conflict of interests are sent to business partners annually.

Communication: Information is communicated through circulars, emails, meetings and internal memos.

•	 Internal	Audit	Function

 The Group’s internal audit function was outsourced to an independent professional service provider, 
Tricor Axcelasia Sdn. Bhd. (“Internal Auditors”), who assist the ARMC to review the control processes 
implemented by the management.  They report the audit findings directly to ARMC.   

 The scope of the internal audit focused on the key risk areas identified in the enterprise-wide risk 
management  exercise in accordance with the internal audit plan approved by the Board.  

 The internal audit work performed is in reference to the International Professional Practices Framework 
for Internal Auditing from the Institute of Internal Auditors.

 
 For any significant control deficiencies noted from the reviews will be documented, communicated 

and recommended to management for review and corrective actions. The Internal Auditors report 
to the ARMC  all significant non-compliance, internal control weaknesses and actions taken by 
management to resolve the audit issues identified.

 The Internal Auditors carry out  their functions independently with risk-based approach and provides 
the ARMC and the Board with the assurance on the areas to be tested during the financial year, the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls.  

 During the financial year under review, the internal audit function conducted two internal audit reviews 
on the business operations based on an annually approved internal audit plan. 

 The qualification, name and number of Internal Audit staff are disclosed in the ARMC report in this 
annual report.

Statement on risk Management and internal Control (Cont’d)
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4. Review of the Statement by External Auditors

 As required by Paragraph 15.23 of the MMLR, the external auditors, Crowe Malaysia PLT, have reviewed this 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control for inclusion in this Annual Report 2022. Their limited 
assurance review was performed in accordance with Audit and Assurance Practice Guide 3 (“AAPG 3”) issued 
by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

 The external auditors reported that nothing has come to their attention that caused them to believe that this 
Statement was not prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance with the disclosures required by paragraphs 
41 and 42 of the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidance for Directors of Listed Issuers 
to be set out, nor is factually inaccurate.

5. Conclusion

 The Board is of the view that the Group’s systems of risk management and internal controls are adequate in 
achieving its business objectives.  However, the Board is also cognizant of the fact that the Group’s systems 
of risk management and internal controls must continuously evolve to meet the changes and challenges of the 
business environment.   Therefore, the Board remains committed and will continue to take measures to strengthen 
the internal control and risk management environment to support the Group’s business and operations.

 The Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have provided assurance to the Board 
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, in all material aspects, have operated adequately 
and effectively.  There were no major weaknesses in internal controls which resulted in material losses during the 
financial year under review until the date of approval of this Statement.

This statement was made in accordance with a resolution approved by the Board on 14 October 2022.

Statement on risk Management and internal Control (Cont’d)
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement in respect of the preparation of the Audited Financial Statements 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and to ensure that the audited financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2022 and the 
results and cash flows of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended on that date in accordance with 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia.

During the preparation of the audited financial statements of the Group and the Company, the Directors have:-

•	 adopted	 appropriate	 accounting	 policies	 and	 have	 applied	 consistently	 all	 applicable	 approved	 accounting	
standards in Malaysia;

•	 made	reasonable	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;	and
•	 prepared	the	financial	statements	on	a	going	concern	basis.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which present fairly the financial 
positions of the Group and the Company.  The Directors also have a general responsibility for taking necessary steps 
that are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and the Company.

The Directors acknowledge their overall responsibility for maintaining a system of internal controls that provides assurance 
of effective and efficient operations and compliance with laws and regulations and also its internal procedures and 
guidelines. The system of internal controls is designed to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against the 
risk of material errors, frauds or other irregularities.

The Directors have considered and pursued the necessary actions to meet their responsibilities as set out in this Statement. 

direCtorS’ reSponSibility
Statement
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1. Utilisation of Proceeds from Private Placement exercise

 As at 30 June 2022, the Company has yet to fully utilised the Private Placement proceeds which was completed 
on 18 August 2021 amounting to RM21.56 million.

A summary of the status of the utilisation of proceeds from the Private Placement exercise is as follows:

Details of
utilisation

Intended
utilisation

RM’000

Actual
utilisation

RM’000

Balance
Unutilised

RM’000

Intended
timeframe

for utilisation
(from date of
receipts of
proceeds)

Extended timeframe
for utilization
(from date of

receipts of proceeds)

Working
Capital (1)

17,710 17,710 0 Within 6 months

Other
Expenditure (2)

3,350 1,286 2,064 Within 12 months Additional 18 months
(i.e. 17 February 2024)

Estimated
expenses in
relation to
the private
placement

500 500 0 Upon	completion
of the private
placement 

Total 21,560 19,496 2,064

Note:

(1) Purchase of component materials used in production of TWS and other electronic products. 
(2) Expenditure on R&D, production testers, medical certification and purchase of simulation software and 

equipment.

2. Statutory and non-statutory audit fees

 The statutory audit and non-statutory audit fees incurred for services rendered by external auditors, Messrs. Crowe 
Malaysia PLT and its affiliates to the Group and the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 are as 
follows:

FYE2022 Company (RM’000) Group (RM’000)

Statutory Audit 50 128

Non-statutory Audit 5 8

 The non-statutory audit fees included assurance services comprises, amongst others, fees related to the review 
of Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control and MIDA Grant audit.

additional CoMplianCe
infOrmatiOn
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3. Material Litigations

 On 11 January 2022, Salutica Allied Solutions Sdn. Bhd.(“SAS”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company had 
filed a Writ of Summons with the Statement of Claim dated 10 January 2022, at the High Court of Malaya in Kuala 
Lumpur against Apple Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. (“APPLE”), (the “Suit”).

 SAS is the owner of the Malaysian Patent No. MY-172803-A (hereinafter the “MY’803 Patent”). The Crosspair 
Technology is the invention claimed by SAS in the MY’803 Patent.

 On or about July 2021, SAS discovered that APPLE uses a system and method that incorporate the features 
as claim by the MY’803 Patent, or at the very least, their equivalents with immaterial differences, without SAS’s 
authority, permission and/or licence (hereinafter the “Infringing Technology”).

 On 30 August 2021, SAS sent, via its solicitors, a letter to APPLE, where SAS, amongst others, notified APPLE 
of the MY’803 Patent and SAS believed that APPLE uses a technology that infringes the MY’803 Patent.

 On 21 December 2021, APPLE responded to SAS’s letter denying that the technology used by APPLE infringes 
the MY’803 Patent, amongst others.  Hence, in order to protect SAS’s intellectual property rights granted under 
the Malaysian Patents Act 1983, SAS proceeded to file the Suit. 

 Solicitors for both the Plaintiff and the Defendant in the suit have attended case management on 20 April 2022, 
26 April 2022, 17 May 2022, 24 May 2022 and 12 July 2022. The Bundle of Pleadings and the Plaintiff’s Case 
summary has been filed. The Court has directed the parties to file the Common Bundle of Documents, List of 
Witnesses, Defendant’s Case Summary, Agreed Facts and Issues to be Tried by 30 August 2022.  SAS and Apple 
have attended case management on 6 September 2022. The Court has directed parties to file the Common 
Bundle of Documents by 6 October 2022. The Court has also fixed a full trial of this suit from 19 June 2023 to 
22 June 2023. The case management on 11 October 2022 has been postponed to 15 November 2022.

 Save for the above, there is no litigation involving the Group which has a material effect on the financial position 
of the Group and the Board is not aware of any material litigation or any proceedings pending or threatened.

4. Material Contracts

 There were no material contracts entered into by the Company or its subsidiary involving the interests of the 
Directors or major shareholders, either subsisting at the end of the financial year 30 June 2022 or, it not then 
subsisting, entered into since the end of previous financial year.

additional Compliance information (Cont’d)
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The directors hereby submit their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2022. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activities of the Company during the financial year is investment holding. The principal activities of the 
subsidiary are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of 
these activities during the financial year. 

RESULTS

    The The
    Group Company
    RM’000 RM’000

Loss after taxation for the financial year    (6,584) (921)

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was recommended by the directors for the financial year.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than those disclosed 
in the financial statements.

ISSUES OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

During the financial year:-
 
(a) The Company increased its issued and paid-up share capital from RM91,802,368 to RM113,362,368 by way of 

issuance of 38,500,000 new ordinary shares for a cash consideration of RM 21,560,000 each as disclosed in 
Note 24 to the financial statements.

The new ordinary shares issued rank equally in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.

(b) There were no issues of debentures by the Company.

TREASURY SHARES

During the financial year, the Company resold 10,000 of its treasury shares in the open market at a price of RM0.71 per 
share. The total consideration received for the resales was RM7,100 including transaction costs. The shares resale are 
offsetted against the existing treasury shares.

As at 30 June 2022, the number of outstanding ordinary shares in issue after the setting off the 3,000,000 treasury 
shares against equity was 423,500,000 (2021 – 384,990,000). The treasury shares are held at a carrying amount of 
RM984,000. The details of the treasury shares are disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements.

direCtorS’
repOrt
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OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES 

During the financial year, no options were granted by the Company to any person to take up any unissued shares in 
the Company.

BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps to 
ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance for impairment 
losses on receivables, and satisfied themselves that there are no known bad debts and that adequate allowance had 
been made for impairment losses on receivables.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that would require the writing off of bad 
debts, or the additional allowance for impairment losses on receivables in the financial statements of the Group and of 
the Company.

CURRENT ASSETS

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps 
to ensure that any current assets, which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business, including their 
value as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company, have been written down to an amount 
which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the values attributed to 
the current assets in the financial statements misleading.

VALUATION METHODS

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render adherence 
to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

At the date of this report, there does not exist:-

(a) any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year 
which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(b) any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent or other liability of the Group and of the Company has become enforceable or is likely to become 
enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the directors, 
will or may substantially affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due.

directors’ report (Cont’d)
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CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES 

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements 
misleading.

ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE

The results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not, in the opinion of the 
directors, substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors, to affect substantially the results of the 
operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

SUBSIDIARY

The details of the Company’s subsidiary are disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The significant events during and after the reporting period are disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements.

ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The ultimate holding company is Blue Ocean Enlightenment Sdn. Bhd., a company incorporated in Malaysia. 

DIRECTORS

The names of directors of the Company who served during the financial year and up to the date of this report are as 
follows:-

Lim Chong Shyh
Joshua Lim Phan Yih
Chia Chee Hoong
Low Teng Lum
Leow Chan Khiang
Chan Shook Ling
Joel Lim Phan Hong (Alternate director to Lim Chong Shyh)

The names of directors of the subsidiary are as follows:

Lim Chong Shyh
Joshua Lim Phan Yih
Goh Bee Chin @ Ooi Bee Chin
Ho Keat Soong

directors’ report (Cont’d)



75

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register of Directors’ shareholdings required to be kept under Section 59 of the Companies Act 
2016 in Malaysia, none of the directors who held office at the end of the financial year held any interest in shares in, or 
debentures of, the Company and every other body corporate, being the Company’s holding company or a subsidiary 
of the Company’s holding company during the financial year except as follow:- 

 Number of Ordinary Shares
  At   At
  1.7.2021 Acquired Disposal 30.6.2022
    
Salutica Berhad
(The Company)
    
Direct interest
Chia Chee Hoong  1,200,000 250,000 – 1,450,000
Low Teng Lum  700,000 – – 700,000
Leow Chan Khiang  700,000 – – 700,000
Chan Shook Ling  6,100,000 – – 6,100,000

Indirect interest
Lim Chong Shyh  214,500,000 – – 214,500,000
Joshua Lim Phan Yih  214,500,000 – – 214,500,000
Joel Lim Phan Hong  214,500,000 – – 214,500,000
Low Teng Lum  30,000 – – 30,000

Blue Ocean Enlightenment Sdn. Bhd.
(Ultimate holding company)
    
Direct interest
Lim Chong Shyh  54 – – 54
Joshua Lim Phan Yih  23 – – 23
Joel Lim Phan Hong  23 – – 23
    

Other than as disclosed above, none of the other Directors of the Company who were in office at the end of financial 
year had any other interest in the shares or options over unissued shares or debentures of the Company or its related 
corporations during the financial year.

By virtue of their substantial interest in shares in Salutica Berhad as at 30 June 2022, Lim Chong Shyh, Joshua Lim 
Phan Yih and Joel Lim Phan Hong are deemed to have interest in the shares in Salutica Allied Solutions Sdn. Bhd., the 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive 
any benefit (other than directors’ remuneration as disclosed in the “Directors’ Remuneration” of this report) by reason 
of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which the director is a 
member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest except for any benefits which may 
be deemed to arise from transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business as disclosed in Note 32(c) to the 
financial statements.

Neither during nor at the end of the financial year was the Group or the Company a party to any arrangements whose 
object is to enable the directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company 
or any other body corporate.

directors’ report (Cont’d)
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The details of the directors’ remuneration paid or payable to the directors of the Company during the financial year are 
as follows:

    The The
    Group Company
    RM’000 RM’000

Fees    495 363
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits    1,866 –
Defined contribution benefits    330 –

    2,691 363

The estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind provided by the Group and the Company to the directors of the 
Company were RM71,000.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS, OFFICERS OR AUDITORS

During the financial year, the amount of indemnity coverage and insurance premium paid for the directors and management 
personnel of the Company and its subsidiary were limit of liability at RM10,000,000 in the aggregate and RM19,000 
respectively.  

No other indemnity given to or insurance effected for other directors, officers or auditors of the Company during the 
financial year and during the period from the end of the financial year to date of this report.

AUDITORS

The auditors, Crowe Malaysia PLT, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

The details of the auditors’ remuneration for the financial year are as follows:-

    The The
    Group Company
    RM’000 RM’000

Audit fees    128 50
Non-audit fees    8 5

    136 55

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 14 October 2022.

Joshua Lim Phan Yih

Lim Chong Shyh

directors’ report (Cont’d)
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We, Joshua Lim Phan Yih and Lim Chong Shyh, being two of the directors of Salutica Berhad, state that, in the 
opinion of the directors, the financial statements set out on pages 84 to 152 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of 
30 June 2022 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year ended on that date.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 14 October 2022.

Joshua Lim Phan Yih Lim Chong Shyh

STATUTORY
DECLARATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 251(1)(B) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016

I, Chan Shook Ling, (MIA Membership Number: 17167), being the officer primarily responsible for the financial 
management of Salutica Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 84 
to 152 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing 
the declaration to be true and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations Act 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by abovementioned
Chan Shook Ling, NRIC Number: 701219-08-5902
at Ipoh in the State of Perak Darul Ridzuan
on this 14 October 2022.

 Chan Shook Ling

Before me

Commissioner for Oaths

STATEMENT BY
DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 251(2) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016



78

SALUTICA BERHAD (Registration No. 201201040303 (1024781-T))

independent
aUditOrS’ repOrt
to tHe MeMberS oF SalutiCa berHad (inCorporated in MalaySia)
reGiStration no: 201201040303 (1024781-t)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Salutica Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as 
at 30 June 2022, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of 
cash flows for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, as set out on pages 84 to 152.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and 
of the Company as at 30 June 2022, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the financial year then 
ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct 
and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) 
(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Other matter

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the preceding financial year were audited by another firm 
of auditors whose report dated 15 October 2021, expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Key audit matters (Cont’d)

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Revenue recognition on services rendered in respect of product development
Refer to Note 5.18(b) in the summary of significant accounting policies and Note 6 to the financial statements.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

The Group recorded the revenue on services rendered 
in respect of product development of RM14.5 million for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

The Group recognised revenue on services rendered 
for product development over time using the stage of 
completion method.

We identified the revenue on the services rendered for 
product development as areas of audit focus as these 
areas involved significant management’s judgement and 
estimates made in respect of the total budgeted time and 
total budgeted costs for product development projects 
(which represents a key input for the computation 
of percentage-of-completion of these development 
projects).

We performed the following procedures in relation to 
revenue recognition on services rendered in respect of 
product development on a sampling basis: 

•	 Obtained	an	understanding	of	the	 internal	controls	
over the accuracy and timing of revenue recognised 
in the financial statements, including the controls 
performed by management in estimating the total 
contract costs, profit margin and percentage-of-
completion of the contracts;

•	 Obtained	 supporting	 evidence	 such	 as	 signed	
contracts, on sample basis, to obtain understanding 
of specific terms and condition;

•	 Assessed	the	variations	in	development	projects	to	
approved variation order, if any;

•	 Checked	mathematical	accuracy	of	the	percentage	
of completion based on information on the actual 
time incurred up to the reporting date over the total 
budgeted time required to complete the project;

•	 Assessed	 the	 management’s	 assumptions	
in estimating contract costs by agreeing the 
budgeted costs to the awarded contracts and other 
documentary evidence such as approved purchase 
orders and quotations. We will consider the historical 
accuracy of management forecasts for similar 
development projects in evaluating the estimated 
total costs in deriving gross profit margin;

•	 Tested	management’s	workings	on	the	computation	
of percentage of completion;

•	 Tested	management’s	workings	on	the	computation	
of revenue by agreeing the contract revenue to 
the signed contracts or purchase order from the 
customers; and

•	 Evaluated	 the	 adequacy	 of	 presentation	 and	
disclosures of revenue recognition on services 
rendered in respect of product development in the 
financial statements, including significant accounting 
policies.

Based on the procedures performed above, we did not 
find any material exceptions in the revenue recognised 
during the financial year.

independent auditors’ report (Cont’d)
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Key audit matters (Cont’d)

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. (Cont’d)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use (“ROU”) and intangible assets 
(collectively	“non-financial	assets”)
Refer to Note 5.6, 5.8 and 5.9 in the summary of significant accounting policies and Notes 13, 14 and 15 to the 
financial statements.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

The	Group	 has	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment,	 ROU	
assets and intangible assets with aggregate carrying 
amounts of approximately of RM34 million, RM0.1 million 
and RM1 million respectively as at 30 June 2022.

As at 30 June 2022, the carrying amount of the non-
financial assets represent 54% and 18% of the non-
current assets and total assets of the Group respectively.

The Group is required to perform impairment test of Cash 
Generating	Unit	(“CGU”)	whenever	there	is	an	indication	
that	the	CGU	may	be	impaired	by	comparing	the	carrying	
amount with its recoverable amount.

The continued losses in the financial year ended 30 June 
2022 and financial year ended 30 June 2021 indicates 
that the carrying amount of the non-financial assets of 
the Group may be impaired.

The Group estimates its recoverable amount of the non-
financial	assets	at	the	higher	of	the	CGU’s	fair	value	less	
costs	 of	 disposal	 (“FVLCD”)	 and	Value-In-Use	 (“VIU”).	
Estimating	the	VIU	 involves	estimating	the	 future	cash	
inflows	and	outflows	that	will	be	derived	from	the	CGU	
based on assumptions that are highly judgement and 
discounting them at an appropriate rate.

We performed the following procedures in relation to 
management’s impairment assessment of non-financial 
assets of the Group:

•	 Evaluated	the	assumptions	and	methodologies	used	
in performing the impairment assessment;

•	 Tested	the	basis	of	preparing	the	cash	flow	forecasts	
taking into account the historical evidence supporting 
the underlying assumptions;

•	 Assessed	the	reliability	of	management’s	forecast	by	
comparing financial performances against previous 
financial forecasted results;

•	 Evaluated	the	key	assumptions,	in	particular,	revenue	
growth projections and operating profit margins by 
comparing against internal information, and external 
economic and market data;

•	 Assessed	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 the	weighted-
average cost of capital discount rate assigned to the 
CGU;	and

•	 Assessed	 the	 adequacy	 of	 the	 presentation	 and	
disclosures in the financial statements.

Based on the procedures performed, the results of 
management’s impairment assessment are consistent 
with the outcome of our procedures.

independent auditors’ report (Cont’d)
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Key audit matters (Cont’d)

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. (Cont’d)

Impairment assessment of investment in a subsidiary
Refer to Note 5.5 in the summary of significant accounting policies and Notes 16 to the financial statements.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

The carrying amount of the Company’s investment in a 
subsidiary is RM90 million as at 30 June 2022.

The Company is required to perform impairment test on 
the Company’s investment in a subsidiary whenever there 
is an indication that the carrying amount may be impaired.

The continued losses the financial year ended 30 June 
2022 and financial period ended 30 June 2021 of the 
subsidiary indicates that the carrying amount of the 
investment in a subsidiary of the Company may be 
impaired.

The Company estimates its recoverable amount of the 
investment in a subsidiary at the higher of the subsidiary’s 
fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) and Value-In-
Use	(“VIU”).	Estimating	the	VIU	involves	estimating	the	
future cash inflows and outflows that will be derived from 
the subsidiary based on assumptions that are highly 
judgmental and discounting them at an appropriate rate

 We performed the following procedures in relation to 
management’s impairment assessment of investment 
in a subsidiary of the Company:

•	 Obtained	 an	 understanding	 of	 the	management’s	
business plan;

•	 Evaluated	the	assumptions	and	methodologies	used	
in performing the impairment assessment;

•	 Tested	the	basis	of	preparing	the	cash	flows	forecasts	
taking into account the historical evidence supporting 
the underlying assumptions.

•	 Assessed	 the	 reliability	 of	management’s	 forecast	
by comparing actual financial performances against 
previous financial forecasted results;

•	 Evaluated	the	key	assumptions,	in	particular,	revenue	
growth projections and operating profit margins by 
comparing against internal information, and external 
economic and market data; and

•	 Assessed	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 the	weighted-
average cost of capital discount rate assigned to the 
CGU.

Based on the procedures performed, the results of 
management’s impairment assessment are consistent 
with the outcome of our procedures.

independent auditors’ report (Cont’d)
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our 
auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or 
the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:-

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	Group	and	of	the	Company,	
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	 internal	control	 relevant	 to	 the	audit	 in	order	 to	design	audit	procedures	 that	are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s and the Company’s internal control.

independent auditors’ report (Cont’d)



83

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	
related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	on	
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	Group	and	of	the	Company,	
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information	of	the	entities	or	business	activities	
within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies 
Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content 
of this report. 

Crowe Malaysia PLT Choong Kok Keong
201906000005 (LLP0018817-LCA) & AF 1018 03461/11/2023 J
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Ipoh, Perak

14 October 2022

independent auditors’ report (Cont’d)
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 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Revenue 6 143,836 222,996 – –

Other income  8,559 2,714 – –

Raw materials and
 consumables used  (90,705) (179,804) – –

Changes in inventories
 of work in progress
 and finished goods  (10,307) (480) – –

Employee benefits costs 7 (30,703) (33,030) (363) (363)

Contract workers  (6,176) (7,151) – –

Depreciation of property,
 plant and equipment  (7,765) (6,032) – –

Amortisation of intangible assets  (999) (603) – –

Utilities	 	 (2,806)	 (2,802)	 –	 –

Maintenance and upkeep  (3,731) (3,807) – –

Reversal of loss allowance for
 impairment of trade receivables  49 96 – –

Other gains – net 8 1,272 923 254 440

Other expenses  (8,379) (5,449) (812) (282)

Loss from operations 9 (7,855) (12,429) (921) (205)

Finance income – interest income  55 29 – *

Finance costs  (547) (207) – –

Finance costs - net 10 (492) (178) – *

Loss before taxation  (8,347) (12,607) (921) (205)

Income tax credit  11 1,763 2,883 * *

Net loss for the financial year  (6,584) (9,724) (921) (205)

Other comprehensive income,
 net of tax  – – – –

Total comprehensive loss
 for the financial year  (6,584) (9,724) (921) (205)

StateMentS oF
COmpreHenSive inCOme
For tHe FinanCial year ended 30 June 2022

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Net loss for the
	 financial	year/Total
 comprehensive loss
	 for	the	financial	year
 attributable to:
Owners of the Company  (6,584) (9,724) (921) (205)

LOSS PER SHARE (sen)
Basic/Diluted 12 (1.57) (2.53)

* Amount is less than RM500.

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statements of Comprehensive income (Cont’d)
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The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

ASSETS
NON-CURRENT	ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 13 51,914 52,339 * *
Right-of-use assets 14 5,178 5,273 – –
Intangible assets 15 1,052 2,015 – –
Investment in a subsidiary 16 – – 90,000 70,000
Deferred tax assets 17 7,096 5,319 – –

  65,240 64,946 90,000 70,000

CURRENT	ASSETS
Inventories 18 54,584 66,493 – –
Receivables, deposits
 and prepayments 19 18,342 38,351 11 11
Contract assets 20 2,044 3,823 – –
Amount owing by a subsidiary 32(b) – – 16,000 18,500
Short-term investment 21 45,105 15,232 13,843 10,708
Current tax assets  2,736 2,702 3 2
Derivative assets 22 – 1 – –
Cash and bank balances 23 7,930 1,552 60 7

  130,741 128,154 29,917 29,228

TOTAL ASSETS  195,981 193,100 119,917 99,228

StateMentS oF
finanCial pOSitiOn
aS at 30 June 2022
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 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capital 24 113,362 91,802 113,362 91,802
Treasury shares 25 (984) (991) (984) (991)
Retained profits  34,121 40,705 7,010 7,931

TOTAL EQUITY  146,499 131,516 119,388 98,742

NON-CURRENT	LIABILITIES
Lease liability 26 101 123 – –
Borrowings 27 1,966 4,137 – –

  2,067 4,260 – –

CURRENT	LIABILITIES
Payables and accrued liabilities 28 28,363 47,180 529 486
Contract liabilities 29 11,783 3,460 – –
Provision for warranties 30 120 70 – –
Lease liability 26 22 20 – –
Borrowings 27 6,750 6,576 – –
Derivative liabilities 22 377 18 – –

  47,415 57,324 529 486

TOTAL LIABILITIES  49,482 61,584 529 486

TOTAL EQUITY
 AND LIABILITIES  195,981 193,100 119,917 99,228

* Amount is less than RM500.

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statements of Financial position (Cont’d)
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  Share Treasury Retained
	 	 Capital	 Shares	 Profits	 Total
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

The Group

Balance at 1.7.2020  91,802 (991) 50,429 141,240

Loss after taxation
 for the financial year  – – (9,724) (9,724)
Other comprehensive loss
 for the financial year, net of tax  – – – –

Total comprehensive loss
 for the financial year  – – (9,724) (9,724)

Balance at 30.6.2021/1.7.2021  91,802 (991) 40,705 131,516

Issuance of shares 24 21,560 – – 21,560
Resale of treasury shares 25 – 7 – 7

Total contributions by owners  21,560 7 – 21,567

Loss after taxation
 for the financial year  – – (6,584) (6,584)
Other comprehensive loss
 for the financial year, net of tax  – – – –

Total comprehensive loss
 for the financial year  – – (6,584) (6,584)

Balance at 30.6.2022  113,362 (984) 34,121 146,499

StateMentS oF
CHanGeS in eQUitY
For tHe FinanCial year ended 30 June 2022

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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  Share Treasury Retained
	 	 Capital	 Shares	 Profits	 Total
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

The Company

Balance at 1.7.2020  91,802 (991) 8,136 98,947

Loss after taxation
 for the financial year  – – (205) (205)
Other comprehensive loss
 for the financial year, net of tax  – – – –

Total comprehensive loss
 for the financial year  – – (205) (205)

Balance at 30.6.2021/1.7.2021  91,802 (991) 7,931 98,742

Issuance of shares 24 21,560 – – 21,560
Resale of treasury shares 25 – 7 – 7

Total contributions by owners  21,560 7 – 21,567

Loss after taxation
 for the financial year  – – (921) (921)
Other comprehensive loss
 for the financial year, net of tax  – – – –

Total comprehensive loss
 for the financial year  – – (921) (921)

Balance at 30.6.2022  113,362 (984) 7,010 119,388

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statements of Changes in equity (Cont’d)
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 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM/(FOR)
 OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Loss before taxation  (8,347) (12,607) (921) (205)

Adjustments for:-
Depreciation of property, plant
 and equipment  7,765 6,032 – –
Gains on disposal of property,
 plant and equipment  (236) (97) – –
Written off of property, plant
 and equipment  7 * – –
Depreciation of right-of-use assets   95 95 – –
Intangible assets 
- Amortisation   999 603 – –
- written off  – 129 – –
Allowance for slow-moving and
 obsolete inventories   1,205 383 – –
Trade receivables
- reversal of loss allowance
  for impairment (net)   (49) (96) – –
- bad debt recovery  (1) – – –
Additional provision for warranties  53 41 – –
Interest income   (55) (29) – *
Interest expense  547 207 – –
Net unrealised foreign currency
 exchange gains   (32) (5) – –
Fair value losses on derivative
 financial instruments   360 42 – –

Operating profit/(loss) before
 working capital changes  2,311 (5,302) (921) (205)

Decrease/(Increase) in inventories  10,704 (8,988) – –
Decrease/(Increase) in trade
 and other receivables  22,042 (17,094) – –
(Decrease)/Increase in trade
 and other payables  (9,923) 1,992 43 18

CASH FROM/(FOR) OPERATIONS  25,134 (29,392) (878) (187)
Tax paid  (48) (134) (1) (1)

NET CASH FROM/(FOR)
 OPERATING ACTIVITIES  25,086 (29,526) (879) (188)

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

StateMentS oF
CaSH flOwS
For tHe FinanCial year ended 30 June 2022
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 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

CASH FLOWS (FOR)/FROM
 INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of plant and equipment 31(a) (7,248) (6,311) – –
Capitalisation of intangible assets  (36) (311) – –
Proceeds from disposal of
 plant and equipment  237 97 – –
Interest received  55 29 – *
Repayment of amount due from
 a subsidiary  – – 2,500 500
Subscription of additional
 shares issued by a subsidiary  – – (20,000) (20,000)

NET CASH FOR INVESTING
 ACTIVITIES  (6,992) (6,496) (17,500) (19,500)

CASH FLOWS FROM
 FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of
 shares under private placement  21,560 – 21,560 –
Proceeds from resale of
 treasury shares  7 – 7 –
Repayments to hire-purchase
 creditors 31(b) (2,859) (1,006) – –
Repayment of term loans  – (47) – –
Repayment of lease liabilities 31(b) (20) (20) – –
Interest paid 31(b) (547) (207) – –
Drawdown of short term
 revolving credits  – 4,000 – –

NET CASH FROM
 FINANCING ACTIVITIES  18,141 2,720 21,567 –

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE)
 IN CASH AND CASH
 EQUIVALENTS  36,235 (33,302) 3,188 (19,688)

EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN
 EXCHANGE RATE ON
 CASH AND CASH
 EQUIVALENTS  16 * – –

CASH AND CASH
 EQUIVALENTS AT
 BEGINNING OF THE
 FINANCIAL YEAR  16,784 50,086 10,715 30,403

CASH AND CASH
 EQUIVALENTS AT END
 OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  31(c) 53,035 16,784 13,903 10,715

* Amount is less than RM500.

The annexed notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statements of Cash Flows (Cont’d)
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the Main 
Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The registered office and principal place of business are as follows:-

Registered office : No. 41, Jalan Medan Ipoh 6
Bandar Baru Medan Ipoh 
31400 Ipoh
Perak Darul Ridzuan

Principal place of business : No. 3 Jalan Zarib 6
Kawasan Perindustrian Zarib
31500 Lahat, Ipoh
Perak Darul Ridzuan

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of 
the directors dated 14 October 2022.

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

 The principal activities of the Company during the financial year is investment holding. The principal activities of 
the subsidiary are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements. 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 

3. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The ultimate holding companies are Blue Ocean Enlightenment Sdn. Bhd., a company incorporated in Malaysia. 

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION

 The financial statements of the Group are prepared under the historical cost convention and modified to include 
other bases of valuation as disclosed in other sections under significant accounting policies, and in compliance 
with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

4.1 During the current financial year, the Group has adopted the following new accounting standards and/or 
interpretations (including the consequential amendments, if any):-

MFRSs and/or IC Interpretations (Including The Consequential Amendments)
Amendments to MFRS 16: Covid-19 – Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
Amendments to MFRS 9, MFRS 139, MFRS 7, MFRS 4 and MFRS 16: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
 – Phase 2

 The adoption of the above accounting standards and/or interpretations (including the consequential 
amendments, if any) did not have any material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

noteS to tHe
finanCial StatementS
For tHe FinanCial year ended 30 June 2022
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notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

4. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

4.2 The Group has not applied in advance the following accounting standards and/or interpretations (including 
the consequential amendments, if any) that have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board 
(MASB) but are not yet effective for the current financial year:-

MFRSs and/or IC Interpretations (Including The Consequential
 Amendments)

Effective Date

MFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
Amendments to MFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sale or Contribution of Assets
 between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture Deferred
Amendments to MFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
Amendments to MFRS 17: Initial Application of MFRS 17 and
 MFRS 9: Comparative Information 1 January 2023
Amendments to MFRS 101: Classification of Liabilities as Current
 or Non-current 1 January 2023
Amendments to MFRS 101: Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
Amendments to MFRS 108: Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
Amendments to MFRS 112: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
 arising from a Single Transaction 1 January 2023
Amendments to MFRS 116: Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds
	 before	Intended	Use 1 January 2022
Amendments to MFRS 137: Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022
Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018 – 2020 1 January 2022

 The adoption of the above accounting standards and/or interpretations (including the consequential 
amendments, if any) is expected to have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group upon 
its initial application.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

5.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

 Management believes that there are no key assumptions made concerning the future, and other sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year other than as disclosed below:-

(a) Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment

 The estimates for the residual values, useful lives and related depreciation charges for the property, 
plant and equipment are based on commercial factors which could change significantly as a result 
of technical innovations and competitors’ actions in response to the market conditions. The Group 
anticipates that the residual values of its property, plant and equipment will be insignificant. As a 
result, residual values are not being taken into consideration for the computation of the depreciable 
amount. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological development could impact the 
economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges 
could be revised. The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment as at the reporting date is 
disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
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notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Cont’d)

(b) Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, right-of-use assets and Intangible assets

 The Group determines whether an item of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and 
intangible assets are impaired by evaluating the extent to which the recoverable amount of the asset 
is less than its carrying amount. This evaluation is subject to changes such as market performance, 
economic and political situation of the country. A variety of methods is used to determine the 
recoverable amount, such as valuation reports and discounted cash flows. For discounted cash flows, 
significant judgement is required in estimation of the present value of future cash flows generated 
by the assets, which involve uncertainties and are significantly affected by assumptions used and 
judgements made regarding estimates of future cash flows and discount rates. The carrying amount 
of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets as at reporting date are 
disclosed in Notes 13, 14 and 15 to the financial statements.

(c) Impairment of Investments in a Subsidiary

 The Company determines whether an item of its investment in a subsidiary is impaired by evaluating 
the extent to which the recoverable amount of the asset is less than its carrying amount. This evaluation 
is subject to changes such as market performance, economic and political situation of the country. 
A variety of methods is used to determine the recoverable amount, such as valuation reports and 
discounted cash flows. For discounted cash flows, significant judgement is required in estimation of 
the present value of future cash flows generated by the assets, which involve uncertainties and are 
significantly affected by assumptions used and judgements made regarding estimates of future cash 
flows and discount rates. The carrying amount of investment in a subsidiary as at reporting date are 
disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements.

(d) Income Taxes

 There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination may be 
different from the initial estimate. The Group recognises tax liabilities based on its understanding of 
the prevailing tax laws and estimates of whether such taxes will be due in the ordinary course of 
business. Where the final outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recognised, such difference will impact the income tax expense and deferred tax balances in the year 
in which such determination is made. The carrying amount of current tax assets as at the reporting 
date is RM2,736,000 (2021 – RM2,702,000).

(e) Impairment of Trade Receivables and Contract Assets

 The Group uses the simplified approach to estimate a lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all 
trade receivables and contract assets. The Group develops the expected loss rates based on the 
payment profiles of past and the corresponding historical credit losses, and adjusts for qualitative and 
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking information. If the expectation is different 
from the estimation, such difference will impact the carrying value of trade receivables and contract 
assets. The carrying amounts of trade receivables and contract assets as at the reporting date are 
disclosed in Notes 19 and 20 to the financial statements respectively.



95

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Cont’d)

(f) Impairment of Non-Trade Receivables

 The loss allowances for non-trade financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default 
and expected loss rates if a default happens (loss given default). It also requires the Group to assess 
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk of the non-trade financial assets at the reporting 
date. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting appropriate inputs to 
the impairment calculation, based on the past payment trends, existing market conditions as well as 
forward-looking information incorporating the impact of COVID-19 pandemic. The carrying amounts 
of other receivables as at the reporting date are disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

(g) Write-down of Inventories

 Reviews are made periodically by management on damaged, obsolete and slow-moving inventories. 
These reviews require judgements and estimates. Possible changes in these estimates could result 
in revisions to the valuation of inventories. The carrying amount of inventories as at the reporting date 
is disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements.

(h) Revenue Recognition for Development Contracts

 The Group recognises development revenue based on over time using the stage of completion 
method. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the actual time incurred to date as a 
percentage of total budgeted time required to complete for the respective projects of the product 
development activities carried out for its customers. 

 The determination of the time incurred to date and total budgeted time required to complete the project 
is subjective in nature and involves estimation by management and customers’ project timeline. Both 
are affected by changes in market demand, customers’ request in specification, technical capabilities 
and technology advancement. The carrying amount of contract assets and contract liabilities as at 
the reporting date are disclosed in Notes 20 and 29 to the financial statements.

(i) Deferred Tax Assets

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profits would be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences could be utilised. Management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred 
tax assets that can be recognised, based on the assessment of the probability of the future taxable 
profits. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 17 to 
the financial statements.

Critical Judgements Made in Applying Accounting Policies

 Management believes that there are no instances of application of critical judgement in applying the Group’s 
accounting policies which will have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements 
other than as disclosed below:-

Lease Terms

 Some leases contain extension options exercisable by the Group before the end of the non-cancellable 
contract period. In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances including 
the past practice and any cost that will be incurred to change the asset if an option to extend is not taken. 
An extension option is only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or 
not terminated).
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notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

 The consolidation financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary 
made up to the end of the reporting period.

 A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. Potential voting rights are considered when assessing control 
only when such rights are substantive. The Group also considers it has de facto power over an investee 
when, despite not having the majority of voting rights, it has the current ability to direct the activities of the 
investee that significantly affect the investee’s return.

 Subsidiary is consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group up to the effective 
date on which control ceases, as appropriate.

 Intragroup transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. Intragroup 
losses may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the consolidated financial statements. 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiary to ensure consistency of 
accounting policies with those of the Group.

	 Acquisitions	of	businesses	are	accounted	for	using	the	acquisition	method.	Under	the	acquisition	method,	
the consideration transferred for acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities 
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group at the acquisition date. The consideration transferred 
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs, other than the costs to issue debt or equity securities, are recognised in profit or loss when 
incurred.

 In a business combination achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are remeasured 
to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

 Non-controlling interests in the acquiree may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. 
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

(a) Non-controlling interests

 Non-controlling interest are presented within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, 
separately from the equity attributable to owners of the Company. Profit or loss and each component 
of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in 
the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

(b) Changes in Ownership Interests in Subsidiaries Without Change of Control

 All changes in the parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interest is adjusted and the fair value the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in the 
equity of the Group.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONT’D)

(c) Loss of Control

	 Upon	the	loss	of	control	of	a	subsidiary,	the	Group	recognises	any	gain	or	loss	on	disposal	in	profit	
or loss which is calculated as the difference between:-

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest in the former subsidiary; and

(ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the former 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.

 Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the former subsidiary 
are accounted for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were 
disposed of (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained profits). The fair value 
of any investments retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as 
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under MFRS 9 or, when applicable, the 
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

5.3 FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY 

(a) FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

 The functional currency of the Group is the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates.

 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Company’s functional 
and presentation currency and has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

(b) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

 Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currencies on initial recognition, 
using the exchange rates at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are translated at the rates ruling as of that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
are translated using exchange rates that existed when the values were determined. All exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss.

5.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statements of financial position when the Group 
has become a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

 Financial instruments are classified as financial assets, financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangement and their definitions in MFRS 132. Interest, dividends, 
gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability are reported as an expense or 
income. Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity.

 Financial instruments are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to settle 
either on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

 A financial instrument is recognised initially at its fair value (other than trade receivables without significant 
financing component which are measured at transaction price as defined in MFRS 15 - Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers at inception). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of the financial instrument (other than a financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss) are 
added to/deducted from the fair value on initial recognition, as appropriate. Transaction costs on the financial 
instrument at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately on profit or loss.

 Financial instruments recognised in the statements of financial position are disclosed in the individual policy 
statement associated with each item.

(a) Financial Assets

 All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost 
or fair value (through profit or loss, or other comprehensive income), depending on the classification 
of the financial assets.

Debt Instruments

(i) Amortised Cost

 The financial asset is held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income is recognised by applying 
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. When the asset 
has subsequently become credit-impaired, the interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset.

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts), excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the financial asset 
or a shorter period (where appropriate).

(ii) Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

 The financial asset is held for both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial asset, 
where the asset’s cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest. Movements 
in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the fair value reserve, except for the recognition of impairment, interest income and foreign 
exchange difference which are recognised directly in profit or loss.  Interest income is calculated 
using the effective interest rate method.

(iii)	 Fair	Value	through	Profit	or	Loss

 All other financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

 The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing those 
assets change.



99

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(a) Financial Assets (Cont’d)

Equity Instruments

 All equity investments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses recognised in 
profit or loss except where the Group has elected to present the subsequent changes in fair value in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve at initial recognition.

 The designation at fair value through other comprehensive income is not permitted if the equity 
investment is either held for trading or is designated to eliminate or significantly reduce a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise. 

 Dividend income from this category of financial assets is recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s 
right to receive payment is established unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of 
the cost of the equity investments.

(b) Financial Liabilities 

(i)	 Financial	Liabilities	at	Fair	Value	through	Profit	or	Loss

 Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are either held for 
trading or are designated to eliminate or significantly reduce a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise. The changes in fair value of these financial liabilities 
are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Other Financial Liabilities

 Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts), through the expected life of the financial liability or a shorter period 
(where appropriate).

(c) Equity Instruments

Equity instruments classified as equity are measured initially at cost and are not measured subsequently.

(i) Ordinary Shares

 Ordinary shares are classified as equity and recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(c) Equity Instruments (Cont’d)

(ii) Treasury Shares

 When the Company’s own shares recognised as equity are bought back, the amount of the 
consideration paid, including all costs directly attributable, are recognised as a deduction from 
equity. Own shares purchases that are not subsequently cancelled are classified as treasury 
shares and are presented as a deduction from total equity. No gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares.

 When treasury shares are reissued by resale, the difference between the sales consideration 
received and the carrying amount of the treasury shares is recognised in equity.

Where treasury shares are cancelled, their costs are transferred to retained profits.
.

(d)	 Derivative	financial	instruments

 Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 
financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives during the reporting period, other 
than those accounted for under hedge accounting, are recognised directly in profit or loss.

 Any derivative embedded in a financial asset is not accounted for separately. Instead, the entire hybrid 
contract is classified and subsequently measured as either amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

 An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract which is a financial liability 
as a derivative if, and only if, its risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host 
contract and the host contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

(e) Derecognition

 A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the financial asset expire or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. On derecognition of a financial asset 
measured at amortised cost, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the sum of 
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition 
of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously accumulated in the fair value reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.  In 
contrast, there is no subsequent reclassification of the fair value reserve to profit or loss following the 
derecognition of an equity investment. 

 A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and 
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised 
in profit or loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(f) Financial Guarantee Contracts

 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due 
in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

 Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as liabilities at fair value, net of transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantee contracts are recognised as income in profit 
or loss over the period of the guarantee or, when there is no specific contractual period, recognised 
in profit or loss upon discharge of the guarantee. If the debtor fails to make payment relating to a 
financial guarantee contract when it is due and the Group, as the issuer, is required to reimburse the 
holder for the associated loss, the liability is measured at the higher of the amount of the credit loss 
determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model and the amount initially recognised 
less cumulative amortisation.

 
5.5 INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY

 Investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost in the statement of financial position of the Company, and are 
reviewed for impairment at the end of the reporting period if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying values may not be recoverable. The cost of the investments includes transaction costs.

 On the disposal of the investment in a subsidiary, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the investment is recognised in profit or loss.

 
5.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 All items of property and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost includes expenditure that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset 
to working condition for its intended use.

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when the cost is incurred and it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 
with the asset will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of parts that are replaced is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant 
and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is charged to profit or loss (unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset) on a straight-line method to write off the depreciable amount of the assets over 
their estimated useful lives. Depreciation of an asset does not cease when the asset becomes idle or is 
retired from active use unless the asset is fully depreciated. The principal annual depreciation rates are:

Buildings on long-term leasehold land 2% - 20%
Factory extension 10% - 33%
Moulds, plant and machinery 10% - 33%
Furniture, fittings, equipment and electrical installation 10% - 50%
Motor vehicles 20%

 Capital work-in-progress included in property, plant and equipment are not depreciated as these assets 
are not yet available for use.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

 The depreciation method, useful life and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period to ensure that the amounts, method and periods of depreciation are consistent 
with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied 
in the items of the property, plant and equipment. Any changes are accounted as a change in estimate.

 When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of the asset, being the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount, is recognised in profit or loss.  

5.7 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE 

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

 Development expenditure is recognised as an expense except that costs incurred on development projects 
are capitalised as non-current assets to the extent that such expenditure is expected to generate future 
economic benefits. Development expenditure is capitalised if, and only if, an entity can demonstrate all of 
the following:-

(a) Its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the asset under development;
(b) The product or process is technically and commercially feasible;
(c) Its future economic benefits are probable;
(d) Its intention to complete and the ability to use or sell the developed asset; and
(e) The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the asset under 

development

 Capitalised development expenditure is measure at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses, if any. Development expenditure initially recognised as an expense is not recognised as assets in 
the subsequent period.

 The development expenditure is amortised on a straight-line method over a period of 2 years when the 
products are ready for sale or use. In the event that the expected future economic benefits are no longer 
probable of being recovered, the development expenditure is written down to its recoverable amount.

 The amortisation method, useful life and residual value are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.

5.8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

(a) Patents

 Separately acquired patents are shown at historical cost. Patents have a finite useful life and are carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated losses (if any). Amortisation is calculated 
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of patents over their estimated useful lives of twenty 
years.

(b) Golf club memberships

 Golf club memberships are the rights to use golf clubs and are transferable. They are stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any). These golf-club memberships 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over the terms of membership which expire in year 2090 and 
2093 respectively.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.9 LEASES

 The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.  The Group 
recognises a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in 
which it is the lessee, except for low-value assets and short-term leases with 12 months or less. For these 
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line method over 
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

 The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components from lease components of (type of right-
of-use assets). Instead, the Group has accounted for the lease component and the associated non-lease 
components as a single lease arrangement.

 The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-
of-use assets and the associated lease liabilities are presented as a separate line item in the statements of 
financial position.

 The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost. Cost includes the initial amount of the corresponding 
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial 
direct costs incurred less any incentives received.

 The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses, and adjustment for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The depreciation starts from the 
commencement date of the lease. If the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Company 
or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the 
related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. Otherwise, the Company 
depreciates the right-of-use asset to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the 
end of the lease term. The principal annual depreciation rate is:

Long term leasehold land Over 78 years
Factory equipment Over 9 years

 The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate.

 The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in the future lease payments (other than lease modification that is not 
accounted for as a separate lease) with the corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset or is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount has been reduced to zero.

5.10 INVENTORIES

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first in, first 
out basis and comprises the purchase price, production or conversion costs and incidentals incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

 The cost of conversion includes cost directly related to the units of production, and a proportion of variable 
and fixed production overheads based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.

 Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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5.11 CONTRACT ASSET AND CONTRACT LIABILITY

 A contract asset is recognised when the Group’s right to consideration is conditional on something other 
than the passage of time. A contract asset is subject to impairment requirements of MFRS 9.

 A contract liability is stated at cost and represents the obligation of the Group to transfer goods or services 
to a customer for which consideration has been received (or the amount is due) from the customers.

5.12 IMPAIRMENT

(a) Impairment of Financial Assets

(i)	 Impairment	of	debt	instruments	and	financial	guarantee	contracts

 The Group and the Company assess on a forward looking basis the expected credit loss (“ECL”) 
associated	with	 their	 debt	 instruments	 carried	at	 ‘amortised	cost’	 and	 financial	 guarantee	
contracts issued. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk.

 The Group and the Company have four types of financial instruments that are subject to the 
ECL model:

•	 Trade	receivables;
•	 Other	receivables	(including	non-trade	amount	due	from	a	subsidiary)	and	deposits;
•	 Contract	assets;	and
•	 Financial	guarantee	contracts	issued

 While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of MFRS 9, 
the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

 ECL represents a probability-weighted estimate of the difference between present value of 
cash flows according to contract and present value of cash flows the Group or the Company 
expects to receive, over the remaining life of the financial instruments. For financial guarantee 
contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected payments to reimburse the holder 
of the guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts that the Group or the Company expected 
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

The measurement of ECL reflects:

•	 an	unbiased	and	probability-weighted	amount	that	is	determined	by	evaluating	a	range	
of possible outcomes;

•	 the	time	value	of	money;	and
•	 reasonable	and	supportable	information	that	is	available	without	undue	cost	or	effort	at	

the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions.

Simplified	approach	for	trade	receivables	and	contract	assets

 The Group and the Company apply the MFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL which 
uses a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables and contract assets. Note 36.1 (b)(iii) to the financial 
statements sets out the measurement details of ECL.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.12 IMPAIRMENT (CONT’D)

(a) Impairment of Financial Assets (Cont’d)

(i)	 Impairment	of	debt	instruments	and	financial	guarantee	contracts	(Cont’d)

 General 3-stage approach for other receivables (including non-trade amount due from a 
subsidiary), deposits and financial guarantee contracts issued

 At each reporting date, the Group and the Company measure ECL through loss allowance at 
an amount equal to 12-month ECL if credit risk on a financial instrument or a group if financial 
instruments has not increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial 
instruments, a loss allowance at an amount equal lifetime ECL is required. Note 36.1 (b)(iii) to 
the financial statements set out the measurement details of ECL.

(ii)	 Significant	increase	in	credit	risk

 The Group and the Company consider the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset 
and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout 
each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group 
and the Company compare the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date 
with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. They consider available reasonable 
and supportable forward-looking information.

The following indicators are incorporated:

•	 actual	or	expected	significant	adverse	changes	in	business,	financial	or	economic	conditions	
that are expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations;

•	 actual	or	expected	significant	changes	in	the	operating	results	of	the	debtor;
•	 significant	increases	in	credit	risk	on	other	financial	instruments	of	the	same	debtor;	or
•	 significant	changes	in	the	expected	performance	and	behavior	of	the	debtor,	including	

changes in the payment status of debtor in the group and changes in operating results 
of the debtor.

 Macroeconomic information such as the expected Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”) growth 
rates is incorporated when assessing whether there is a significant increase in credit risk. 

 Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor 
is more than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment.

(iii)	 Definition	of	default	and	credit-impaired	financial	assets

 The Group and the Company define a financial instrument as default, which is fully aligned with 
definition of credit-impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

Quantitative criteria

 The Group and the Company define a financial instrument as default, when the counterparty 
fails to make contractual payment within 90 days of when they fall due.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.12 IMPAIRMENT (CONT’D)

(a) Impairment of Financial Assets (Cont’d)

(iii)	 Definition	of	default	and	credit-impaired	financial	assets	(Cont’d)

Qualitative criteria

 The debtor meets unlikely to pay criteria, which indicates the debtor is in significant financial 
difficulty. The Group and the Company consider the following instances:

•	 the	debtor	is	in	breach	of	financial	covenants;
•	 concessions	have	been	made	by	the	lender	relating	to	the	debtor’s	financial	difficulty;
•	 it	is	becoming	probable	that	the	debtor	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	other	financial	reorganisation;	

or
•	 the	debtor	is	insolvent

Financial instruments that are credit-impaired are assessed on individual basis.

(iv) Level of aggregation for measurement of ECL

Individual Assessment

 The Group measures ECL on its trade receivables and contract assets on an individual basis 
for its most major customer given the distinct credit profile of the customer, as well as for trade 
receivables and contract assets which are in default or credit-impaired. Other receivables 
(including non-trade amount due from a subsidiary), deposits and financial guarantee contracts 
issued are assessed on individual basis for ECL measurement as credit risk information is 
obtained and monitored separately.

Collective assessment

 Other than its most major customer, the Group measures ECL on its trade receivables and 
contract assets on a collective basis given their shared credit risk characteristics and the days 
past due. The Group assessed that it is appropriate to assess the ECL for these customers 
collectively given the similar credit profiles and historical credit loss experience with these 
customers as well as current observable data and expectation of future economic conditions 
that could impact the industry of which these customers operate. The contract assets relate 
to revenue recognised exceeded the amounts billed and have substantially the same risk 
characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore 
concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation 
of the loss rates for the contract assets.

(v) Write-off

Trade receivables and contract assets

 Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst 
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group or the Company, 
and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 1 year past due.

 Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented as net impairment 
losses as a separate line item in the profit or loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are credited against the same line item.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.12 IMPAIRMENT (CONT’D)

(a) Impairment of Financial Assets (Cont’d)

(v) Write-off (Cont’d)

 Other receivables (including non-trade amount due from a subsidiary), deposits and 
financial	guarantee	contracts	issued

 The Group and the Company write off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted 
all practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
The assessment of no reasonable expectation of recovery is based on unavailability of debtor’s 
sources of income or assets to generate sufficient future cash flows to repay the amount. The 
Group and the Company may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement 
activity. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off will result in impairment gains.

(b) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

 The carrying values of assets, other than those to which MFRS 136 - Impairment of Assets does not 
apply, are reviewed at the end of each reporting period for impairment when an annual impairment 
assessment is compulsory or there is an indication that the assets might be impaired. Impairment 
is measured by comparing the carrying values of the assets with their recoverable amounts. When 
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its 
recoverable amount and an impairment loss shall be recognised. The recoverable amount of the 
assets is the higher of the assets’ fair value less cost to sell and their value in use, which is measured 
by reference to discounted future cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

 When there is a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, a subsequent 
increase in the recoverable amount of an asset is treated as a reversal of the previous impairment loss 
and is recognised to the extent of the carrying amount of the asset that would have been determined 
(net of amortisation and depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised. The reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

5.13 INCOME TAXES

(a) Current Tax

 Current tax assets and liabilities are expected amount of income tax recoverable or payable to the 
taxation authorities.

 Current taxes are measured using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period and are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that the tax relates to items recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity).
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.13 INCOME TAXES (CONT’D)

(b) Deferred Tax 

 Deferred tax are recognised using the liability method for temporary differences other than those 
that arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business 
combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and 
unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. 
The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.

 Current and deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transactions either in profit 
or loss, other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Deferred tax arising from a business combination 
is adjusted against goodwill or negative goodwill.

 Current tax assets and liabilities or deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity (or on different tax entities but they intend to settle current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis) and the same taxation authority.

5.14 PROVISIONS

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past 
events, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the 
time value of money is material, the provision is the present value of the estimated expenditure required to 
settle the obligation. The discount rate shall be a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised 
as interest expense in profit or loss.

Warranties

 A provision for warranties is recognised based on the best estimated liabilities to repair or replace the 
products when the underlying products or services are sold. The estimated liabilities are based on historical 
warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcome against their associated probabilities of returns.

5.15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances, demand deposits, and short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value with original maturity periods of three months or less. 
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.16 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)	 Short-term	Benefits

 Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are measured 
on an undiscounted basis and are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the associated 
services are rendered by employees of the Company.

(b)	 Defined	Contribution	Plans

 The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
to which they relate. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group and the Company has no 
further liability in respect of the defined contribution plans.

5.17 BORROWING COSTS

 Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
assets are capitalised as part of the cost of the those assets, until such time as the assets are ready for their 
intended use or sale. The capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended during extended periods in which 
active development is interrupted. The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs 
eligible for capitalisation is the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to borrowings that are 
outstanding during the financial year, other than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of financing 
a specific project-in-progress, in which case the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowings less 
any investment income on temporary investment of that borrowings will be capitalised.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss as expenses in the period in which they incurred. 

5.18 REVENUE FROM CONTRACT WITH CUSTOMERS

 Revenue from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract 
with a customer in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer net of sale of services tax, 
returns, rebates and discounts. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a product or 
service to customer. An asset is transferred when the customer obtains control of the asset. Depending on 
the substance of the contract, revenue is recognised when the performance obligation is satisfied, which 
maybe a point in time or over time.

(a) Sale of goods 

 The Group involved in the manufacturing of mobile communication products, wireless electronics and 
lifestyle devices. Revenue are recognised when the Group has transferred control of the goods to 
the customer, being when the goods have been delivered to the customer and upon its acceptance. 
Following delivery, the customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell 
the goods, and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.

 The Group’s obligation to provide a replacement for faulty products under the standard warranty 
terms is recognised as a provision.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.18 REVENUE FROM CONTRACT WITH CUSTOMERS (CONT’D)

(b) Services rendered in respect of product development

 The Group is involved in product design and development for its customers. The development of 
products for its customers is highly integrated, not individually distinct and hence they are recognised 
as a single performance obligation. Revenue from providing such service is recognised progressively 
over time in which services are rendered as the Group’s performance does not create an asset with 
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date.

 The progress towards performance of services is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs 
to the satisfaction of the performance obligation (i.e. reference to the actual time incurred up to the 
end of the reporting period as a percentage of total budgeted time required to complete the project) 
which best reflect the Group’s performance in satisfying the performance obligation.

 Estimates of the extent of progress towards completion are revised if circumstances change. Any 
resulting increase or decrease in estimated revenue is reflected in the profit or loss in the financial 
period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision became known by management.

5.19 REVENUE FROM OTHER SOURCES AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME

(a) Interest income

 Interest income on short-term deposits and advances are recognised on an accrual basis based on 
effective interest method.

(b) Other income

Any other income is recognised on an accrued basis unless collectability is uncertain.

(c) Government grants

 Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Grants 
received before the Group complies with all attached conditions are recognised as a liability owing 
to	the	government	(and	included	in	deferred	income	within	the	‘payables	and	accrued	liabilities’)	and	
recognised as income when all attached conditions are met.

 Government grants relating to costs are recognised net of the related expenditure in the profit or loss 
over the financial periods to match the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. 
The Group has opted to present on net basis between the government grants and the related costs 
incurred.

5.20 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

 The Group do not recognised contingent assets and liabilities other than those arising from business 
combinations, but discloses its existence in the financial statements. A contingent liability is a possible 
obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Group, or a present obligation 
that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation. A contingent liability also arises in the extremely rare case where there is a liability that cannot be 
recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. However, contingent liabilities do not include financial 
guarantee contract. A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence 
will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond 
the control of the Group. The Group do not recognise contingent assets but disclose its existence where 
inflows of economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

5.20 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

 Subsequent to the initial recognition, the Group measures the contingent liabilities that are recognised 
separately at the date of acquisition at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in accordance 
with	the	provisions	of	MFRS	137	‘Provisions,	Contingent	Liabilities	and	Contingent	Assets’	and	the	amount	
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with MFRS 
15	‘Revenue	from	Contracts	with	Customers’.

5.21 OPERATING SEGMENTS

 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any 
of the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the 
chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and 
assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

5.22 EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

 Basic earnings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the consolidated profit or loss attributable to 
ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the reporting period, adjusted for own shares held.

 Diluted earnings per ordinary share is determined by adjusting the consolidated profit or loss attributable to 
ordinary shareholders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, 
for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

5.23 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using a valuation technique. The measurement assumes that the transaction takes 
place either in the principal market or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a markets participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

For financial reporting purposes, the fair value measurements are analysed into level 1 to level 3 as follows:-

Level 1: Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liability that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2: Inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3: Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

 The transfer of fair value between levels is determined as of the date of the event or change in circumstances 
that caused the transfer.
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6. REVENUE

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Revenue recognised at a point
 in time
Sales of goods   129,320 208,387 – –

Revenue recognised over time
Services rendered in respect
 of product development  14,516 14,609 – –

   143,836 222,996 – –

(a) The information on the disaggregation of revenue by geographical market is disclosed in Note 33 to the 
financial statements.

(b) The payment terms for the goods sold and services rendered are disclosed in Note 19 to the financial 
statements.

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS COSTS

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Directors’ remuneration
Directors of the Company:
- fees  495 495 363 363
- allowances  108 107 – –
- salaries and bonus  1,627 1,684 – –
- defined contribution retirement plan 330 340 – –
- other short term employee benefits 131 131 – –

   2,691 2,757 363 363

Directors of the subsidiary:
- allowances  17 16 – –
- salaries and bonus  517 515 – –
- defined contribution retirement plan 101 100 – –
- other short term employee benefits 41 41 – –

   676 672 – –
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7. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS COSTS (CONT’D)

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Other employees:
- salaries, wages and bonus  23,237 25,473 – –
- defined contribution retirement plan 2,224 2,276 – –
- other short term employee benefits 1,977 1,966 – –

Total other employee benefits costs  27,438 29,715 – –

Total employee benefit costs  30,805 33,144 363 363

Government wages subsidy*  (102) (114) – –

Total other employee benefit costs
 net of government wages subsidy  27,336 29,601 – –

Total employee benefit costs
 net of government wages subsidy  30,703 33,030 363 363

Monetary value of benefits in-kind
 other than cash given to:
- directors of the Company  71 33 – –
- directors of the subsidiary
  who are not directors
  of the Company  32 31 – –

   103 64 – –

* The government wages subsidy is in relation to programme introduced under the Penjana Kerjaya 2.0, 
Penjana Kerjaya 3.0 and JomKerja@NCER initiative which aims to support businesses affected by economic 
disruption, market volatility and uncertainty due to the global coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic. 
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8. OTHER GAINS – NET

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Net foreign currency exchange gains:
- realised  794 240 – –
- unrealised  32 5 – –
Fair value losses on derivative
 financial instruments  (360) (42) – –
Gain on disposal of property, plant
 and equipment  236 97 – –
Short-term investment:
- gain on disposal  40 51 14 1
- fair value gain   530 572 240 439

   1,272 923 254 440

9. LOSS FROM OPERATIONS

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Loss from operations is stated
 after charging/(crediting) the
 following items:

Auditors’ remunerations:
- statutory audit  128 150 50 62
- other assurance services
 - auditors of the Company  8 6 5 6
 - other auditors  17 – – –
Research expenses  103 643 – –
Property, plant and equipment:
- written off  7 * – –
Depreciation	of	ROU	assets
 (Note 14)  95 95 – –
Intangible assets written off  – 129 – –
Allowance for slow-moving
 and obsolete inventories  1,206 383 – –
Bad debt recovered  (1) – – –
Provision for warranties (Note 30)  53 41 – –
Lease expense for:
- short-term leases (included in
	 	 ‘employee	benefit	costs’)	 	 191	 169	 –	 –
- low-value assets (included in
	 	 ‘maintenance	and	upkeep
  expenses’)  7 13 – –

* Amount is less than RM500.
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10. FINANCE COSTS – NET

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Finance income – interest income  55 29 – *
Finance costs:
- hire-purchase  (323) (144) – –
- short term revolving credits  (216) (54) – –
- lease interest  (8) (9) – –
- term loans  – * – –

   (547) (207) – –

Finance costs – net  (492) (178) – *

 
* Amount is less than RM500.

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT 

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Current income tax:
- current financial year  (14) – * –
- overprovision in previous
  financial year  – * – *

   (14) * * *
Deferred tax (Note 17):
- current financial year  1,777 2,883 – –

Income tax credit  1,763 2,883 * *

* Amount is less than RM500.
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11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONT’D)

 A reconciliation income tax credit applicable to the loss before taxation at the statutory tax rate to income tax 
credit at the effective tax rate of the Group and the Company is as follows:

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Loss before taxation  (8,347) (12,607) (921) (205)

Tax calculated at the Malaysian
 income tax rate of 24% (2021 – 24%) 2,003 3,026 221 49
- expenses not deductible for
  tax purposes  (632) (582) (282) (155)
- income not subject to tax  313 414 61 106
- expenses eligible for double deductions 79 25 – –
- overprovision of current tax in
  previous financial year  – * – *

Income tax credit  1,763 2,883 * *

* Amount is less than RM500.

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following unutilised capital allowances and unused tax losses 
which can be utilised to set off against future taxable income and the corresponding deferred tax assets have 
been recognised:

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Unutilised	capital	allowances	–	no	expiry	date	 	 	 34,160	 24,933
Unused	tax	losses
- Expiring YA 2030    4,693 4,789
- Expiring YA 2031    3,528 3,501

 The unused tax losses are allowed to be utilised for 10 consecutive years of assessment while the unabsorbed 
capital allowances are allowed to be carried forward indefinitely.

12. LOSS PER SHARE

 Basic loss per share of the Group is calculated by dividing the net loss for the financial year by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year excluding ordinary shares purchased by the 
Company and hold as treasury shares (Note 25).

  The Group
    2022 2021

Net loss for the financial year attributable to owners
 of the Company (RM’000)    (6,584) (9,724)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
 during the financial year (’000)    418,436 384,990

Basic loss per share (sen)    (1.57) (2.53)

No diluted loss per share calculated as the Company does not have potential ordinary shares.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

      RM’000

The Company

Furniture, fittings, equipment and electrical installation

Cost  
At 1 July 2021/30 June 2022     21

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2021/30 June 2022     21

Carrying amount
At 1 July 2021/30 June 2022     *

Cost
At 1 July 2020/30 June 2021     21

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2020/30 June 2021     21

Carrying amount
At 1 July 2020/30 June 2021     *

* Amount is less than RM500.

 The carrying amount of the assets acquired under hire-purchase arrangements as at 30 June 2022 amounted to 
approximately RM8,584,000 (2021 – RM8,655,000).
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE (“ROU”) ASSETS

14.1	 Amounts	recognised	in	the	statements	of	financial	position

    Long term
    leasehold Factory 
    land equipment Total
The Group   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cost
At 1 July 2021/30 June 2022   5,681 195 5,876

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2021   541 62 603
Depreciation for the financial year  73 22 95

30 June 2022   614 84 698

Net book value
30 June 2022   5,067 111 5,178

Cost
At 1 July 2020/30 June 2021   5,681 195 5,876

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2020   469 39 508
Depreciation for the financial year  72 23 95

30 June 2021   541 62 603

Net book value
30 June 2021   5,140 133 5,273

14.2 Amounts recognised in the statements of other comprehensive income

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Depreciation	for	ROU	assets	 	 	 	 95	 95
Interest expenses included in the finance costs   8 9
Expense related to short-term leases
	 (included	in	‘employee	benefit	costs’)	 	 	 191	 169
Expense related to lease of low-value assets
	 (included	in	‘maintenance	and	upkeep	expenses’)	 	 7	 13

Total     301 286
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE (“ROU”) ASSETS (CONT’D)

14.3 Amounts recognised in the statements of cash flows

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Total cash outflows for leases consists of:
Short-term lease payments    191 169
Payments for leases of low-value assets   7 13
Repayment of lease liabilities    20 20
Interest paid    8 9

Total     226 211
   
   

14.4 Nature of the Group’s leasing activities

(a) The Group leases certain pieces of long term leasehold land and factory equipment of which the 
leasing activities are summarised below:-

(i) Long term leasehold land

 Long term leasehold land comprises factory lot and 2 carpark lots. The Group made the upfront 
payment to secure the right-of-use of these long term leasehold land in Malaysia with the lease 
term of 78 years, which expires in the year 2092. 

 These leases were fully prepaid by the Group and no corresponding lease liabilities were 
recognised.

(ii) Factory equipment – liquid nitrogen storage tank

 The Group also leases factory equipment i.e. liquid nitrogen storage tank for the gas supply 
for the production purpose. The lease is for a period of 4 years starting from 1 October 2018 
with an option to further renew for another 4 years. The Group has included the lease period 
covered by the renewal option in the lease term as it was assessed that it is probable that the 
renewal option will be exercised.

(b) The long term leasehold land of the Group has been pledged to licensed banks as security for banking 
facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in Note 27 to the financial statements.

(c) The Group also entered into rental agreements to lease the office equipment and hostels for employees. 
Rental contracts entered by the Group for this purpose are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 
5 years and 1 to 3 years respectively, but certain rental contracts have extension options. However, 
for rental of hostels, both the lessor and the lessee have the right to terminate for convenience at 
one month notice and as such the lease term for such contracts are determined to be only for one 
month. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms 
and conditions. The expenses associated with these lease agreements are recognised in the profit 
or loss when incurred as these are either leases of low-value assets or are considered short-term 
leases.
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE (“ROU”) ASSETS (CONT’D)

14.4 Nature of the Group’s leasing activities (Cont’d)

(c) The future aggregate minimum lease payments under short-term leases and low-value assets in 
respect of office equipment and hostels for employees from the reporting date to the expiry of the 
leases are as follows:

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Not later than 1 year    16 23

Restriction or covenants by leases

 The lease agreements do not impose any covenants except for the security interest in the leased 
asset is held by the lessors.

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

    Development Golf club
   Patents costs membership Total
The Group  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

2022

Cost
At 1 July 2021  1,026 6,403 119 7,548
Additions  36 – – 36

At 30 June 2022  1,062 6,403 119 7,584

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 July 2021  137 5,393 3 5,533
Amortisation  58 939 2 999

At 30 June 2022  195 6,332 5 6,532

Carrying amount  867 71 114 1,052

2021

Cost
At 1 July 2020  1,136 6,111 119 7,366
Additions  19 292 – 311
Written off  (129) – – (129)

At 30 June 2021  1,026 6,403 119 7,548

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 July 2020  69 4,859 2 4,930
Amortisation  68 534 1 603

At 30 June 2021  137 5,393 3 5,533

Carrying amount  889 1,010 116 2,015
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)

 Intangible assets of the Group comprise patents, development costs incurred on in-house developed products 
that meet the capitalisation criteria and golf club memberships. All expenditure relating to research activities of 
approximately RM103,000 (2021 – RM643,000) are recognised as an expense in the profit or loss as incurred.

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Remaining amortisation period (year):
- patents    4 – 17 1 – 16
- development costs    * 1
- golf club memberships    68 – 71 69 – 72

* Less than one year

16. INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY

  The Company
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted	shares,	at	cost
At 1 July     70,000 50,000
Subscription of additional shares    20,000 20,000

At 30 June    90,000 70,000

(a) The details of the subsidiary is as follows:

Country of
Effective interest

as at 30 June Principal activities
Name of Company incorporation 2022

%
2021

%

Salutica Allied Solutions
 Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia 100 100 Comprises vertical integration
 processes covering product
 design and development,
 and manufacturing of mobile
 communication products,
 wireless electronics,
 embedded computing
 devices and lifestyle devices.

(b) On 26 August 2021, the Company subscribed for an additional 20 million units of ordinary shares at an 
issue price of RM1 per ordinary share issued by its wholly owned subsidiary, Salutica Allied Solutions Sdn. 
Bhd. for a cash consideration of RM20 million for the purpose of financing the expansion of the subsidiary’s 
range of products.
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority. The following amounts, 
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statement of financial position:

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Subject to income tax:
Deferred tax assets    7,096 5,319

The movements in deferred tax during the financial year are as follows:-

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

At 1 July    5,319 2,436
Credited/(Charged) to profit or loss (Note 11)

- property, plant and equipment    (842) (554)
- intangible assets    67 103
- right-of-use assets    (29) 40
- accrued liabilities, provisions and allowances   384 162
- unutilised capital allowances    2,214 2,297
- unused tax losses    (17) 835

     1,777 2,883

At 30 June    7,096 5,319
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (CONT’D)

The deferred tax assets and liabilities as at the end of the reporting period are as follow:

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Subject to income tax:
Deferred tax assets (before offsetting):
- accrued liabilities, provision and allowances   761 377
- right-of-use assets    – 3
- unutilised capital allowances    8,198 5,984
- unused tax losses    1,973 1,990

     10,932 8,354
Offsetting    (3,836) (3,035)

Deferred tax assets (after offsetting)    7,096 5,319

Deferred tax liabilities (before offsetting):   
- property, plant and equipment    (3,632) (2,790)
- intangible assets    (178) (245)
- right-of-use assets    (26) –

     (3,836) (3,035)
Offsetting    3,836 3,035

Deferred tax liabilities (after offsetting)   – –

 The deferred tax assets on unutilised capital allowances and unused tax losses have been recognised by the 
Group as the management assessed that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

 
18. INVENTORIES

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Raw materials    33,086 34,239
Work-in-progress    6,176 9,591
Finished goods    16,929 23,065

     56,191 66,895
Less: Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories  (1,607) (402)

     54,584 66,493

 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in the Group’s profit or loss amounted to 
approximately RM131,938,000 (2021 – RM213,904,000).



126

SALUTICA BERHAD (Registration No. 201201040303 (1024781-T))

notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

19. RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables  16,650 36,170 – –

Less: Allowance for impairment loss 

At 1 July  (65) (161) – –
Reversal during the financial year  49 96 – –

At 30 June  (16) (65) – –

   16,634 36,105 – –

Non-trade receivables
 
Other receivables  38 64 – –
Deposits  76 80 1 1
Prepayments  1,594 2,102 10 10

   1,708 2,246 11 11

   18,342 38,351 11 11

The Group’s normal credit terms ranged from 15 to 75 days (2021 – 14 to 75 days). 

20. CONTRACT ASSET

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

As at 1 July  3,823 270 – –
Transfer to trade receivables  (3,823) (246) – –
Revenue recognised
 during the financial year  9,936  9,131 – –
Amount billed to customer
 during the financial year  (7,892) (5,332) – –

As at 30 June  2,044 3,823 – –

 The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to consideration for work completed but not yet billed 
as at the reporting date. The amount will be transferred to trade receivables when the Group issues billing in the 
manner as established in the contracts with customers.
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21. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Investment unit trust funds
 quoted in Malaysia, at fair value  45,105 15,232 13,843 10,708

 The short-term investment as at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 are in respect of investment in an Islamic money 
market fund.

The quoted market prices of the Islamic money market fund as at 30 June 2022 is RM1.00 (2021 – RM1.00).

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Derivative Assets
Forward currency contracts     – 1

Derivative Liabilities
Forward currency contracts     377 18

The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

	 Forward	currency	contracts	are	used	to	hedge	the	Group’s	purchases	denominated	in	United	States	Dollar	(USD)	
for which commitments existed at the end of the reporting period. The settlement dates of the forward currency 
contracts range between 29 to 111 (2021 – 30 to 121) days after the end of the reporting period.  

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding derivative financial instruments are as follows:

  The Group
  Currency Currency 2022 2021
  bought Sold RM’000 RM’000

Foreign currency forward
	 exchange	contracts	 	 RM	 USD	 11,523	 6,646

23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

 Certain of the Group’s and the Company’s bank balances totalling RM60,000 and RM60,000 (2021 – RM7,000 
and RM7,000) are placed with a licensed Islamic bank as at 30 June 2022.
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24. SHARE CAPITAL

   2022 2021 2022 2021
 Number Of Shares (’000) RM’000 RM’000

Issued And Fully Paid-Up

Ordinary shares with no par value
At 1 July  388,000 388,000 91,802 91,802
Issuance of shares under
 Private Placement  38,500 – 21,560 –

At 30 June  426,500 388,000 113,362 91,802

(a) The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared 
by the Company and are entitled to one vote per ordinary share at meetings of the Company. The ordinary 
shares have no par value. 

(b) On 18 August 2021, the Company announced the issuance and listing of 38,500,000 new ordinary shares 
at an issue price of RM0.56 per ordinary share pursuant to the Private Placement which further increased 
the number of ordinary shares (inclusive of 3,000,000 treasury shares) from 388,000,000 to 426,500,000 
and the share capital from RM91,802,368 to RM113,362,368.

The new ordinary shares issued rank equally in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.

25. TREASURY SHARES

 On August 2021, the Company resold its treasury shares totalling 10,000 shares from its repurchased share 
capital in the open market at a price of RM0.71 per share. The total consideration received was RM7,100. The 
shares resale are offsetted against the existing treasury shares.

 Of the total RM984,000 (2021 – RM991,000) issued and fully paid-up ordinary shares at the end of the reporting 
period, 3,000,000 ordinary shares (2021 – 3,010,000 ordinary shares) are held as treasury shares by the Company. 

26. LEASE LIABILITY

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

At 1 July    143 163
Interest expense recognised in profit or loss (Note 10)   8 9
Repayment of principal    (20) (20)
Repayment of interest expense    (8) (9)

At 30 June    123 143

Analysed by:-
Current liability    22 20
Non-current liability    101 123

     123 143
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27. BORROWINGS

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Non-current
Hire purchase liabilities (Note a)    1,966 4,137

Current
Hire purchase liabilities (Note a)    2,750 2,576
Short term revolving credits    4,000 4,000

     6,750 6,576

(a) Hire purchase liabilities are denominated in Ringgit Malaysia.

(b) The details of the hire purchase liabilities of the Company are summaries below:-

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Minimum hire purchase payables
- not later than 1 year     2,920 2,863
- later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   2,015 4,323

     4,935 7,186
Less: Future finance charges    (219) (473)

Present value of hire purchase payables   4,716 6,713

Analysed by:-    
Current liabilities    2,750 2,576
Non-current liabilities    1,966 4,137

      4,716 6,713

(c) The borrowings of the Group are secured by the long term leasehold land of the Group as disclosed in Note 
14.4(b) to the financial statements.

(d) The effective interest rates of the borrowings of the Group are summaries below:-

  Effective Interest Rate
  Interest Rate 2022 2021

Short term revolving credits Floating 3.90% 3.90%
Hire purchase liabilities Fixed 5.07% 5.15%
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28. PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade payables  20,883 39,890 – –
Accrued liabilities (trade)  1,404 1,710 – –

   22,287 41,600 – –

Other payables  1,204 2,118 7 18
Accrued liabilities (non-trade)  4,872 3,462 522 468

   6,076 5,580 529 486

   28,363 47,180 529 486

 Credit terms of trade and other payables granted to the Group vary from 30 to 90 days (2021 – 14 to 90 days) 
from the invoice date.

 Included in other payables of the Group are in respect of purchase of property, plant and equipment of approximately 
RM736,000 (2021 – RM1,499,000).

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

As at 1 July    3,460 3,039
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liabilities
 balance at the beginning of the financial year   (3,460) (3,039)
Increase due to cash received, excluding amounts recognised
 as revenue during the financial year   11,783 3,460

As at 30 June    11,783 3,460

 Included in contract liabilities are deferred revenue arising from services rendered in respect of product development 
amounted to approximately RM422,000 (2021 – RM61,000) and advances made by customers to fund the 
purchase of raw materials amounted to approximately RM11,361,000 (2021 – RM3,399,000).
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30. PROVISION FOR WARRANTIES

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

At 1 July    70 60
Charged during the financial year    53 41
Utilised	during	the	financial	year	 	 	 	 (3)	 (31)

At 30 June    120 70

 Provision for warranties is in respect of finished products manufactured and sold by the Group. The provision is 
measured at a percentage rate of historical replacement to the related revenue and a review of possible outcomes 
against the associated probabilities of returns.

31. CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) The cash disbursed for the purchase of property, plant and equipment is as follows:- 

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Property, plant and equipment
Additions during the financial year   7,347 12,539
Add: -  payment made in current financial year related
  to purchases made in previous financial year  1,499 804
Less: - purchases included in other payables    (736) (1,499)
Less: - purchases made under hire-purchase facilities  (862) (5,533)

Cash paid    7,248 6,311
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31. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONT’D)

(b) The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities are as follows:-

   Hire  Short-term
   purchase  Lease  revolving
   liability liability credit Total
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

The Group

2022
At 1 July  6,713 143 4,000 10,856

Changes in Financing
 Cash Flows
Repayment of borrowings principal   (2,859) (20) – (2,879)
Repayment of borrowings interest  (323) (8) (216) (547)

   (3,182) (28) (216) (3,426)

Non-cash Changes
Addition  862 – – 862
Interest expenses  323 8 216 547

At 30 June  4,716 123 4,000 8,839

  Hire  Short-term
  purchase  Lease revolving Term
  liability liability credit loan Total
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

The Group

2021     
At 1 July 2,186 163 – 47 2,396
     
Changes in Financing
 Cash Flows
Proceeds from drawdown 5,533 – 4,000 – 9,533
Repayment of borrowings
 principal (1,006) (20) – (47) (1,073)
Repayment of borrowings
 interest (144) (9) (54) * (207)

  4,383 (29) 3,946 (47) 8,253

Non-cash Changes     
Interest expenses 144 9 54 * 207

At 30 June 6,713 143 4,000 – 10,856
     

* Amount is less than RM500.
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31. CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONT’D)

(c) The cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:-

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Short-term investments  45,105 15,232 13,843 10,708
Cash and bank balances  7,930 1,552 60 7

   53,035 16,784 13,903 10,715

 Short-term investments of the Group and of the Company are recognised as cash and cash equivalents 
due to their high credit rating and investment in extremely short-term deposits with licensed bank, undergo 
only minor value fluctuations and can be readily converted within three days into know amounts of cash.

32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

(a) Identities of Related Parties

 Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or the Company has the ability, directly or 
indirectly, to control or jointly control of the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making 
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group or the Company and the party are 
subject to common control.

 In addition to the information detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group has related party 
relationships with its directors, ultimate holding company, key management personnel and entities within 
the same group of companies.

(b) Related party balance

  The Company
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Amount owing by a subsidiary
Non-trade balance    16,000 18,500

 The non-trade balance represents dividend receivables. The amount owing is interest free and receivable 
on demand.
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (CONT’D)

(c)	 Significant	related	party	transactions

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Consultation fees paid/
 payable to a person
 connected with certain
 directors of the Company  77 – – –
Meal expenses paid/
 payable to a person
 connected with certain
 directors of the Company  1 7 – –
Payment of expense on
 behalf by holding company  – – 14 14
Repayment received from
 amount due by a subsidiary  – – 2,500 500

 The significant outstanding balances of the related parties (including the allowance for impairment loss 
made, if any) together with their terms and conditions are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial 
statements.

The above transactions were established based on terms and rates agreed between the related parties.

(d) Key management compensation

Included in the employee benefit costs are compensations paid to key management personnel as follows:

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Directors’ remuneration:
- directors of the Company   2,691 2,757 363 363
- directors of the subsidiary  676 672 – –

   3,367 3,429 363 363
Other key management
 personnel:
- salaries and other short
  term employee benefits  177 336 – –
- defined contribution
  plan expenses  21 33 – –

   198 369 – –

   3,565 3,798 363 363

Monetary value of benefits-in-kind 110 220 – –

 Key management compensation includes directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Note 7 to the financial 
statements.
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33. OPERATING SEGMENTS

 Operating segments are prepared in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The Group only has one operating segment qualified as reporting segment under MFRS 8. The 
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
Group’s operating segment, has been identified as the Group’s Managing Director, who makes strategic decisions.

 The Group’s operations are in Malaysia. Non-current assets by geographical segments are not disclosed as all 
operations of the Group are based in Malaysia.

 The Group’s single most major customer contributed to approximately 73% (2021 – 88%) of total revenue of the 
Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

 The basis of measurement of reported segment profit or loss, segment assets and segment liabilities are consistent 
with the basis used for the statements of comprehensive income of the Group for the financial years ended 30 
June 2022 and 30 June 2021 and the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021. The 
components of the segment assets and liabilities include classes of assets and liabilities disclosed in the statement 
of financial position.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

 Although the Company and its subsidiary are located in Malaysia, the Group exports the goods to America, 
Europe, Asia, Australia and Africa.

The information on the disaggregation of revenue based on geographical region is summarised below:

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

America    93,128 189,089
Europe    24,233 19,283
Asia (excluding Malaysia)    10,452 5,919
Australia (including New Zealand and Oceania)   4,229 4,980
Malaysia    11,782 3,718
Africa (including Middle East)    12 7

     143,836 222,996



136

SALUTICA BERHAD (Registration No. 201201040303 (1024781-T))

notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

 Capital commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment not provided for in the financial statements are 
as follows:

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Capital expenditure commitments:   
Approved and contracted for    812 1,302

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

 No provisions are recognised on the following matters as it is not probable that a future sacrifice of economic 
benefits will be required or the amount is not capable of reliable measurement:-

  The Company
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Financial guarantee contracts in relation to
 corporate guarantee given to a subsidiary   8,716 10,713

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of market risk (including foreign currency exchange risk, interest 
rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Financial risk management is carried out through risk 
identification and review, internal control systems, benchmarking to industry’s best practices and adherence to 
the Group’s financial risk management policies. The Group’s overall financial risk management policy focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance.

36.1 Financial Risk Management Policies

(a) Market Risk

(i) Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

 The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions and balances that are 
denominated in currencies other than Ringgit Malaysia. The currencies giving rise to this risk 
are	primarily	United	States	Dollar.	

 The Group mitigates its foreign currency exchange risk through the natural hedge of operating 
foreign currency accounts using the deposits from its export proceeds to pay imported 
purchases where both are denominated in the same foreign currency. The Group also enters 
into foreign currency forward exchange contracts and currency options to hedge its receivables 
for export proceeds, wherever considered necessary.

 The Group also hold cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies for working 
capital purposes.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.1 Financial Risk Management Policies (Cont’d)

(a) Market Risk (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign Currency Exchange Risk (Cont’d)

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency is as follows:-

   UNITED
   STATES RINGGIT
   DOLLAR MALAYSIA OTHERS TOTAL
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

The Group

2022

Financial assets
Trade receivables  16,520 114 – 16,634
Other receivables and deposits 17 93 4 114
Short-term investments – 45,105 – 45,105
Cash and bank balances 6,847 1,080 3 7,930

   23,384 46,392 7 69,783

Financial liabilities
Trade payables  18,411 3,872 4 22,287
Other payables and accruals 1,977 4,099 – 6,076
Revolving credit  – 4,000 – 4,000
Hire purchase liability – 4,716 – 4,716
Lease liability  – 123 – 123
Derivative liabilities 377 – – 377

   20,765 16,810 4 37,579

Net financial assets 2,619 29,582 3 32,204

Less: Net financial assets
    denominated in the
    respective entities’
    functional currencies – (29,582) – (29,582)

Currency exposure 2,619 – 3 2,622
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.1 Financial Risk Management Policies (Cont’d)

(a) Market Risk (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign Currency Exchange Risk (Cont’d)

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency is as follows (Cont’d):-

   UNITED
   STATES RINGGIT  
   DOLLAR MALAYSIA OTHERS TOTAL
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

The Group

2021

Financial assets
Trade receivables  36,029 76 – 36,105
Other receivables and deposit 24 120 – 144
Short-term investments – 15,232 – 15,232
Derivative assets  1 – – 1
Cash and bank balances 1,144 399 9 1,552

   37,198 15,827 9 53,034

Financial liabilities
Trade payables  35,890 5,708 2 41,600
Other payables and accruals 692 4,536 352 5,580
Revolving credit  – 4,000 – 4,000
Hire purchase liability – 6,713 – 6,713
Lease liability  – 143 – 143
Derivative liabilities 18 – – 18

   36,600 21,100 354 58,054

Net financial liabilities 598 (5,273) (345) (5,020)
    
Less: Net financial liabilities
    denominated in the
    respective entities’
    functional currencies – 5,273 – 5,273

Currency exposure 598 – (345) 253

 The Company does not have any transactions or balances denominated in foreign currencies 
and hence, is not exposed to foreign currency risk.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.1 Financial Risk Management Policies (Cont’d)

(a) Market Risk (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign Currency Exchange Risk (Cont’d)

Foreign currency exchange risk sensitivity analysis

 The following table details the sensitivity analysis to a reasonably possible change in the foreign 
currencies as at the end of the reporting period, with all other variables held constant:- 

   Impact on loss after
   tax and equity
  Estimated (Favourable)/
The Group  % increase Unfavourable
   2022 2021 2022 2021
   % % RM’000 RM’000

Foreign currency
 strengthens against RM
-	 United	States	Dollar:	 5.0	 5.0	 (116)	 (167)

(ii) Interest Rate Risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate 
risk arises mainly from long-term borrowings with variable rates. The Group’s policy is to obtain 
the most favourable interest rates available and by maintaining a balanced portfolio mix of fixed 
and floating rate borrowings.

 The Group’s fixed rate borrowings are carried at amortised cost. Therefore, they are not subject 
to interest rate risk as defined in MFRS 7 since neither the carrying amount nor the future cash 
flows will fluctuate because of a change in market interest rates.

 The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk based on the carrying amounts of the financial 
instruments at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 27 to the financial statements.

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

 The following table details the sensitivity analysis to a reasonably possible change in the interest 
rates at the end of the reporting period, with all other variables held constant:- 

     2022 2021
     (Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
     Increase Increase
     RM’000 RM’000

Effects	on	profit	after	taxation	and	equity

Increase of 25 basis point (“bp”)   (8) (8)
Decrease of 25 bp   8 8

(iii) Equity Price Risk

 The Company does not have any quoted investments and hence, is not exposed to equity 
price risk.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.1 Financial Risk Management Policies (Cont’d)

(b) Credit Risk

 The Group’s exposure to credit risk, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, arises mainly from trade 
and other receivables. The Group manages its exposure to credit risk by application of credit approvals, 
credit limits and monitoring procedures on an ongoing basis. For other financial assets (including 
short-term investment, cash and bank balances and derivatives), the Group minimises credit risk by 
dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

 The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from loans and advances to subsidiary, and 
corporate guarantee given to financial institutions for credit facilities granted to a subsidiary. The 
Company monitors the results of the subsidiary regularly and repayments made by the subsidiary.

(i)	 Credit	Risk	Concentration	Profile

 The Group’s major concentration of credit risk relates to the amounts owing by 2 customers 
(2021 – 1 customer) which constituted approximately 88% (2021 – 97%) of the total trade 
receivables as at reporting date. Substantially all of the debts due have been collected 
subsequent to the financial year end.

(ii) Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk 

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented 
by the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statement of financial 
position. 

(iii) Measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL”)

Trade	receivables	and	contract	assets	using	simplified	approach

 The Group measures the loss allowance of trade receivables and contract assets as at the 
reporting date using a PD x LGD x EAD methodology as follows:

•	 PD	(‘probability	of	default’)	–	the	likelihood	that	the	debtor	would	not	be	able	to	repay	
during the contractual period (lifetime);

•	 LGD	 (‘loss	given	default’)	 –	 the	percentage	of	 contractual	 cash	 flows	 that	will	 not	be	
collected if default happens; and

•	 EAD	(‘exposure	at	default’)	–	the	outstanding	amount	that	is	exposed	to	default	risk.

 The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information based 
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. 
The Group has identified the expected GDP growth rate of the affected countries where the 
customers operate to be the most relevant factor, and accordingly adjust the historical loss 
rates based on expected changes in the GDP growth rate. No significant changes to estimation 
techniques or assumptions were made during the reporting period.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.1 Financial Risk Management Policies (Cont’d)

(b) Credit Risk (Cont’d)

(iii) Measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL”) (Cont’d)

 The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments by 
groups of debtors for which an ECL allowance is recognised. The gross carrying amount of 
financial assets below also represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on these 
assets:

     Loss
    Gross allowance for Carrying
    amount impairment amount
    RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

The Group

2022   
Current (not past due)   6,995 * 6,995
Past due   9,655 (16) 9,639

Trade receivables   16,650 (16) 16,634
Contract assets   2,044 – 2,044

    18,694 (16) 18,678

2021
Current (not past due)   21,366 * 21,366
Past due   14,804 (65) 14,739

Trade receivables   36,170 (65) 36,105
Contract assets   3,823 – 3,823

    39,993 (65) 39,928

* Amount is less than RM500.

 The movement in the loss allowances in respect of trade receivables is disclosed in Note 19 
to the financial statements.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.1 Financial Risk Management Policies (Cont’d)

(b) Credit Risk (Cont’d)

(iii) Measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL”) (Cont’d)

 Other	receivables,	deposits	and	financial	guarantee	contracts	issued	using	general	
3-stage approach

 The Group uses three (3) categories for other receivables, deposits and financial guarantee 
contracts issued which reflect its credit risk and how the loss allowance for impairment is 
determined for each of those categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the 
Group’s ECL model is as follows:

CATEGORY
COMPANY’S DEFINITION
OF CATEGORY

BASIS FOR
RECOGNISING ECL

Performing Debtors have a low risk of default and a 
strong capacity to meet contractual cash 
flows.

12-month ECL

Underperforming Debtors for which there is a significant 
increase in credit risk or significant increase 
in credit risk is presumed if interest and/
or principal repayments are 30 days past 
due. See Note 5.12(a)(ii) to the financial 
statements.

Lifetime ECL

Non-performing Interest and/or principal repayments are 
90 days past due or there is evidence 
indicating the asset is credit-impaired. See 
Note 5.12(a)(iii) to the financial statements.

Lifetime ECL
(credit impaired)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovery 
based on unavailability of debtor’s sources 
of income or assets to generate sufficient 
future cash flows to repay the amount. See 
Note 5.12(a)(v) to the financial statements.

Assets is written-off
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.1 Financial Risk Management Policies (Cont’d)

(b) Credit Risk (Cont’d)

(iii) Measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL”) (Cont’d)

 Other	receivables,	deposits	and	financial	guarantee	contracts	issued	using	general	
3-stage approach (Cont’d)

 Based on the above, loss allowance for impairment is measured on either 12 month ECL or 
lifetime ECT using a PD x LGD x EAD methodology as follows:

•	 PD	(‘probability	of	default’)	–	the	likelihood	that	the	debtor	would	not	be	able	to	repay	
during the contractual period (12-months or life time depending on category);

•	 LGD	 (‘loss	given	default’)	 –	 the	percentage	of	 contractual	 cash	 flows	 that	will	 not	be	
collected if default happens; and

•	 EAD	(‘exposure	at	default’)	–	the	outstanding	amount	that	is	exposed	to	default	risk.

 In deriving the PD and LGD, the Group considers historical data by each debtor by category 
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data. The Group has identified the expected 
GDP growth rate of the country where the debtor operates in to be the most relevant factor, 
and accordingly adjust the historical loss rates based on the expected changes in GDP growth 
rates released by the government of the affected countries. Loss allowance for impairment is 
measured at a probability-weighted amount that reflects the possibility that a credit loss occurs 
and the possibility that no credit loss occurs. No significant changes to estimation techniques 
or assumptions were made during the reporting period.

 Based on the assessment performed above, all other receivables, deposits and financial 
guarantee contracts of the Company are classified under the performing category and are 
evaluated for ECL based on 12-month ECL.

 Based on management assessment of ECL as at 30 June 2022 and 2021, the identified loss 
allowance for impairment of other receivables, deposits and financial guarantee contracts as 
at 30 June 2022 and 2021 was immaterial and hence, it is not provided for.

Cash and Bank Balances

 The Group and the Company considers these banks and financial institutions have low credit 
risks. Therefore, the Company is of the view that the loss allowance is immaterial and hence, 
it is not provided for.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.1 Financial Risk Management Policies (Cont’d)

(b) Credit Risk (Cont’d)

(iv) Reconciliation of loss allowance for impairment

 There was no loss allowance for impairment that needs to be recognised for financial assets 
at amortised cost as at 30 June 2022, i.e. contract assets, other receivables, deposits and 
financial guarantee contracts issued.

Trade	receivables	using	simplified	approach

 The loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables of the Group as at 30 June 2022 and 
30 June 2021 is as follows:

  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

At 1 July    65 161
Reversal of in loss allowance for impairment  (49) (96)

At 30 June    16 65

2022

 Based on management assessment on ECL as at 30 June 2022, the Group had reversed the 
loss allowance for impairment by RM65,000 for an outstanding debt which were fully settle by 
the particular customer during the current financial year. The Group had made an additional 
loss allowance for impairment of RM16,000 for which has defaulted on payments on the debt 
which has been overdue by more than 120 days.

2021

 Based on management assessment on ECL as at 30 June 2021, the Group had reversed the 
loss allowance for impairment by RM160,000 for an outstanding debt which were fully settle 
by the particular customer during the current financial year. The Group had made an additional 
loss allowance for impairment of RM64,000 for a customer which has defaulted on payments 
on the debt which has been overdue by more than 90 days.

(c) Liquidity Risk

 Liquidity risk arises mainly from general funding and business activities. The Group practices prudent 
risk management by maintaining sufficient cash balances and the availability of funding through an 
adequate but flexible amount of credit facilities obtained from licensed banks in Malaysia.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.1 Financial Risk Management Policies (Cont’d)

(c) Liquidity Risk (Cont’d)

Maturity Analysis (Cont’d)

   Contractual
  Carrying Undiscounted Within
  amount Cash Flows 1 Year
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

The Company

2022

Non-derivative Financial Liabilities
Payables and accrued liabilities 529 529 529
Financial guarantee liabilities* – 8,716 8,716

  529 9,245 9,245

2021

Non-derivative Financial Liabilities
Payables and accrued liabilities 486 486 486
Financial guarantee liabilities* – 10,713 10,713

  486 11,199 11,199

* The contractual undiscounted cash flows represent the outstanding credit facility of a subsidiary 
at the end of the reporting period. The financial guarantee has not been recognised in the 
financial statements since its fair value on initial recognition was not material.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.2 Capital Risk Management

 The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to maintain an optimal 
capital structure so as to support its businesses and maximise shareholders’ value. To achieve this objective, 
the Group may make adjustments to the capital structure in view of changes in economic conditions, such 
as adjusting the amount of dividend payment, returning of capital to shareholders, issuing new share, sell 
assets to reduce debt or secure additional debts.

 The Group manages its capital based on debt-to-equity ratio that complies with debt covenants and 
regulatory, if any. The debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as divided by total equity. The Group includes within 
net debt, loans and borrowings from financial institutions less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes 
equity attributable to the owners of the parent and non-controlling interest. The debt-to-equity ratio of the 
Group at the end of the reporting period was as follows:-

 
  The Group
    2022 2021
    RM’000 RM’000

Hire purchase liabilities    4,716 6,713
Lease liability    123 143
Short term revolving credit    4,000 4,000

Total debt    8,839 10,856

Total equity    146,499 131,516

Debt-to-equity ratio    0.06 0.08
 

There was no change in the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.3	 Classification	of	Financial	Instruments

 The Group The Company
  2022 2021 2022 2021
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Financial assets

Fair Value Through
 Profit	or	Loss
Short-term investments  45,105 15,232 13,843 10,708
Derivative financial assets  – 1 – –

   45,105 15,233 13,843 10,708

Amortised Cost
Trade receivables  16,634 36,105 – –
Other receivables  114 144 1 1
Amount owing by a subsidiary – – 16,000 18,500
Cash and bank balances  7,930 1,552 60 7

   24,678 37,801 16,061 18,508

Financial Liabilities

Fair Value Through
 Profit	or	Loss
Derivative financial liabilities  377 18 – –

Amortised Cost
Trade payables  22,287 41,600 – –
Other payables and accruals  6,076 5,580 529 486
Lease liability  123 143 – –
Hire purchase liabilities  4,716 6,713 – –
Revolving credit  4,000 4,000 – –

   37,202 58,036 529 486
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.4 Fair Value Information

 Other than those disclosed below, the fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities maturing 
within the next 12 months approximated their carrying amounts due to the relatively short-term maturity of 
the financial instruments. The following table sets out the fair value profile of financial instruments that are 
carried at fair value and those not carried at fair value at the end of the reporting period:-

  Fair Value of
  Financial Instruments Total
  Carried At Fair Value Fair Value
   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

The Group

2022     

Financial Assets
Short-term investment  – 45,105 – 45,105
Derivative financial assets  – – – –

Financial Liability
Derivative financial liabilities  – 377 – 377

2021

Financial Assets
Short-term investment  – 15,232 – 15,232
Derivative financial assets  – 1 – 1

Financial Liability
Derivative financial liabilities  – 18 – 18

The Company

2022

Financial Assets
Short-term investment  – 13,843 – 13,843

2021
Financial Assets
Short-term investment  – 10,708 – 10,708
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

36.4 Fair Value Information (Cont’d)

(a) The fair values of financial instruments carried at fair value have been determined using the following 
basis:-

(i) The fair value of the investment in unit trust fund are determined by reference to statement 
provided by respective financial institutions, with which the investments were enter into.

(ii) The fair value of the derivative financial instruments are based on certain inputs which are not 
directly obtainable from quoted prices and are therefore classified in Level 2.

(iii) There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the financial year.

(b) Fair value of assets and liabilities that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximation of their fair value.

 The carrying amounts of the current financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group that are not 
carried at fair value at the reporting date approximately their fair values because they are mostly short 
term in nature or are repaid frequently, except for the term loan.

 The fair value of the term loan which carried floating interest rates, approximate its carrying amount 
in the statement of financial position at the reporting date.

37. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING AND AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

 On 11 January 2022, Salutica Allied Solutions Sdn. Bhd. (“SAS”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company 
had filed a Writ of Summons with the Statement of Claim dated 10 January 2022, at the High Court of Malaya in 
Kuala Lumpur against Apple Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. (“Apple”) (“The Suit”). SAS is the owner of the Malaysian Patent 
No. MY-172803-A (hereinafter the “MY’803 Patent”). The Crosspair Technology is the invention claimed by SAS 
in the MY’803 Patent. 

 On or about July 2021, SAS discovered that Apple uses a system and method that incorporate the features as 
claim by the MY’803 Patent, or at the very least, their equivalents with immaterial differences, without the SAS’s 
authority, permission and/or license (hereinafter the “Infringing Technology”).

 On 30 August 2021, SAS sent, via its solicitors, a letter to Apple, where SAS, amongst others, notified Apple of 
the MY’803 Patent and SAS believed that Apple uses a technology that infringes the MY’803 Patent.

 On 21 December 2021, Apple responded to SAS’s letter denying that the technology used by Apple infringes the 
MY’803 Patent, amongst others. Hence, in order to protect SAS’s intellectual property rights granted under the 
Malaysia Patents Act 1983, SAS proceeded to file the Suit.

 Solicitors for both the Plaintiff and the Defendant in the suit have attended case management on 20 April 2022, 
26 April 2022, 17 May 2022, 24 May 2022 and 12 July 2022. The Bundle of Pleadings and the Plaintiff’s Case 
summary has been filed. The Court has directed the parties to file the Common Bundle of Documents, List of 
Witness, Defendant’s Case Summary, Agreed Facts and Issues to be Tried by 30 August 2022. SAS and Apple 
have attended case management on 6 September 2022. The Court has directed parties to file the Common 
Bundle of Documents by 6 October 2022. The Court has also fixed a full trial of this suit from 19 June 2023 to 
22 June 2023. The case management on 11 October 2022 has been postponed to 15 November 2022.
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38. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The following figures have been reclassified to conform with the presentation of the current financial year:-

 The Group The Company
   As  As
   Previously As Previously As
   Reported Restated Reported Restated
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Statement of Cash Flows

Net cash for operating activities  (30,460) (29,526) (628) (188)
Net cash from/(for) investing activities 25,456 (6,496) 611 (19,500)
Cash and cash equivalents at
 beginning of the financial year  3,836 50,086 24 30,403
Cash and cash equivalents at
 end of the financial year  1,552 16,784 7 10,715
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Registered
owner

Title details / 
address

Tenure / 
Expiry

of lease

Description
and 

existing use

Approximate 
age of 

building

Total built up 
area and
land area

(square meter)

Carrying 
Amount 
as at 30 

June 
2021

(RM’000)

Date of 
Acquisition / 

Valuation

Salutica 
Allied

Lot 202124, 
PN 94442, 
Mukim Hulu 
Kinta, Daerah 
Kinta, Negeri 
Perak

3 Jalan Zarib 6
Kawasan 
Perindustrian 
Zarib, 31500 
Lahat, Ipoh, 
Perak

99 years, 
expiring 
on 11 

February 
2092

Allocated 
parking space 
for employees

N/A Land area: 
4,551

Built-up area: 
N/A

577.5 12 October 
2015 

(Date of 
Acquisition)

Salutica 
Allied

Lot 202125, 
PN94443,
Mukim Hulu 
Kinta, 
Daerah Kinta, 
Negeri Perak

3 Jalan Zarib 6
Kawasan 
Perindustrian 
Zarib, 31500 
Lahat, Ipoh, 
Perak

99 years, 
expiring 
on 11 

February 
2092

Allocated 
parking space 
for employees

N/A Land area: 
4,314

Built-up area: 
N/A

608.8 12 October 
2015 

(Date of 
Acquisition)

Salutica 
Allied

Lot 381631, 
PN314266, 
Mukim Hulu 
Kinta, Daerah 
Kinta, Negeri 
Perak

3 Jalan Zarib 6
Kawasan 
Perindustrian 
Zarib, 31500 
Lahat, Ipoh, 
Perak

99 years, 
expiring 
on 11 

February 
2092

Our 
manufacturing 

plant comprising 
a two (2)-storey 

office annexed to 
a two (2) storey 

warehouse 
(“Phase Three”) 

and factory 
(“Phase One 
and Two”) 

(“Buildings”)

Phase One: 
23 years

Phase Two: 
22 years

Phase Three: 
14 years

Land area: 
30,130

Built-up area: 
Approximately 

30,318

21,920.5 12 October 
2015 

(Date of 
Acquisition)

The above properties are charged as security for trade facilities with OCBC Bank (Malaysia) Berhad.

liSt oF
prOpertieS
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Total number of Issued Shares :  426,500,000 ordinary shares
Total number of Treasury Shares : 3,000,000 ordinary shares
Total number of Issued Shares net of Treasury Shares : 423,500,000 ordinary shares
Issued Share Capital : RM113,362,368
Class of Shares : Ordinary shares 
Voting Rights : One vote per ordinary share
Number of shareholders  : 3,110

LIST OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

 Direct Interest Indirect Interest
 Size of  Size of
Name Holdings % (#) Holdings % (#)

Blue Ocean Enlightenment
 Sdn. Bhd. (“BOE”) 214,500,000 50.65 – –
Lim Chong Shyh – – 214,500,000 1 50.65
Joshua Lim Phan Yih – – 214,500,000 1 50.65
Joel Lim Phan Hong – – 214,500,000 1 50.65

Note:

1. Deemed interested by virtue of shareholdings in BOE pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016 
(the “Act”).

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS

 Direct Interest Indirect Interest
 Size of  Size of
Name Holdings % (#) Holdings % (#)

Chia Chee Hoong 1,450,000 0.34 – –
Low Teng Lum 700,000 0.17 30,000 2 0.01
Leow Chan Khiang 700,000 0.17 – –
Chan Shook Ling 6,100,000 1.44 – –
Lim Chong Shyh – – 214,500,000 1 50.65
Joshua Lim Phan Yih – – 214,500,000 1 50.65  
Joel Lim Phan Hong – – 214,500,000 1 50.65

Note:

1. Deemed interested by virtue of shareholdings in BOE pursuant to Section 8 of the Act.
2.  Deemed interested by virtue of the shares held by his spouse in the Company.

ANALYSIS BY SIZE OF HOLDINGS

No. of Holders   Size of Holdings Total Holdings (#) % (#)

14 1 - 99 308 0.00
303 100 – 1,000 170,500 0.04
1,306 1,001 – 10,000 7,872,201 1.86
1,188 10,001 – 100,000 41,689,900 9.84
298 100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares 159,267,091 37.61
1 5% and above of issued shares 214,500,000 50.65

3,110 TOTAL 423,500,000 100.00

analySiS oF
SHareHOldinGS
aS at 30 SepteMber 2022
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LIST OF THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

  No. of
No. Name shares held % (#)

1.	 BLUE	OCEAN	ENLIGHTENMENT	SDN.	BHD.	 214,500,000	 50.65

2. RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 11,500,000 2.71
 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR FONG SILING (CEB)

3. CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.  9,540,400 2.25
 CIMB FOR LIM KA KIAN (PB)

4. CHAN SHOOK LING 6,100,000 1.44

5.	 ALLIANCEGROUP	NOMINEES	(TEMPATAN)	SDN.	BHD.	 5,400,000	 1.27
 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TEOH HUI PENG (8076778)

6.	 CITIGROUP	NOMINEES	(ASING)	SDN.	BHD.		 4,729,800	 1.12
 EXEMPT AN FOR CITIBANK NEW YORK  (NORGES BANK 14)

7.	 CIMB	GROUP	NOMINEES	(TEMPATAN)	SDN.	BHD.		 4,150,200	 0.98
 CIMB COMMERCE TRUSTEE BERHAD FOR 
 KENANGA GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES FUND (50154 TR01)

8. GOH BEE CHIN @ OOI BEE CHIN 3,284,800 0.76

9.	 TOKIO	MARINE	LIFE	INSURANCE	MALAYSIA	BHD.		 3,206,000	 0.76
 AS BENEFICIAL OWNER (TMEF)

10. TAN BOOI CHARN  2,800,000 0.66

11. KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.  2,538,800 0.60
 NATASHA NG EU JERN (023) 

12. HO KEAT SOONG  2,450,000 0.58

13. MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 2,327,500 0.55
 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TEH BOON CHIEW 

14. KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 2,100,000 0.50
 LIM KOK KHONG (AA0039387) 

15. HLIB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.  2,000,000 0.47
 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WAH KEIN CHOONG

16.	 HO	POH	TUCK	 2,000,000	 0.47

17. RHB CAPITAL NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.  2,000,000 0.47
 SIM KENG CHOR

18. LEE HOY VOON 1,950,000 0.46

19. CHIA CHEE WAI 1,875,000 0.44

20.	 PUBLIC	NOMINEES	(TEMPATAN)	SDN.	BHD.		 1,721,000	 0.41
 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR GOH CHEE KUAN (E-BMM)

analysis of Shareholdings (Cont’d)
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LIST OF THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS (CONT’D)

  No. of
No. Name shares held % (#)

21. CARTABAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.  1,700,200 0.40
 ICAPITAL.BIZ BERHAD

22. MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD. 1,450,000 0.34
 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR CHIA CHEE HOONG

23.	 PUBLIC	NOMINEES	(TEMPATAN)	SDN.	BHD.		 1,361,700	 0.32
 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN CHOON HEE (E-TCS)

24. TAN CHOR OON  1,309,100 0.31

25. LYE YHIN CHOY  1,230,000 0.29

26. KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN. BHD.  1,200,000 0.28
 RAKUTEN TRADE SDN. BHD. FOR ALLAN GAN CHIN YONG

27. KHO BOON FOCK 1,198,000 0.28

28.	 MAYBANK	SECURITIES	NOMINEES	(TEMPATAN)	SDN.	BHD.	 1,032,700	 0.24
 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR FONG KOK SANG (STF) 

29.	 ALLIANCEGROUP	NOMINEES	(TEMPATAN)	SDN.	BHD.		 1,019,200	 0.24
 PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR YONG THIAN FOOK (7004124)   

30. CHANG MEEI YAN 1,019,000 0.24

 TOTAL 298,643,400 70.52

Note:

(#)	 Excludes	a	total	of	3,000,000	ordinary	shares	bought	back	by	the	Company	and	held	as	Treasury	Shares	as	at	
30 September 2022.

analysis of Shareholdings (Cont’d)
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notiCe oF
annUal General meetinG

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Tenth Annual General Meeting (“10th AGM”) of SALUTICA BERHAD 
(“Salutica” or the “Company”) will be conducted fully virtual through online meeting platform via TIIH Online 
website at https://tiih.online or https://tiih.com.my (Domain registration number with MYNIC:D1A282781) provided 
by Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn. Bhd. in Malaysia on Friday, 25 November 2022 at 10.30 a.m. for 
the following purposes:-

AGENDA

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 
2022 together with the Directors’ and the Auditors’ Reports thereon.

Please refer to
Explanatory Note 1

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM495,000.00 for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2022.

Ordinary Resolution 1

3. To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Clause 76(3) of the 
Constitution of the Company and being eligible offered themselves for re-election:-

(i) Mr. Joshua Lim Phan Yih

(ii) Mr. Low Teng Lum

Ordinary Resolution 2

Ordinary Resolution 3

4. To re-appoint Messrs Crowe Malaysia PLT as Auditors of the Company for the 
financial year ending 30 June 2023 and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 4

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS
 
To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without modifications, the following 
Ordinary Resolutions:-

5. AUTHORITY TO ISSUE AND ALLOT SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 
75 AND 76 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016

 “THAT pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016 (the “Act”), 
Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa 
Securities“) (“Listing Requirements”) and the approval of the relevant regulatory 
authorities, where such approval is required, the Directors of the Company be 
and are hereby authorised to issue and allot shares in the capital of the Company, 
grant rights to subscribe for shares in the Company, convert any securities into 
shares in the Company, or allot shares under an agreement or option or offer 
(“New Shares”) from time to time, at such price, to such persons and for such 
purposes and upon such terms and conditions as the Directors may in their 
absolute discretion deem fit, provided that the aggregate number of such New 
Shares to be issued, to be subscribed under any rights granted, to be issued 
from conversion of any security, or to be issued and allotted under an agreement 
or option or offer, pursuant to this resolution, when aggregated with the total 
number of any such New Shares issued during the preceding 12 months does 
not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares (excluding any treasury 
shares) of the Company for the time being (“Proposed General Mandate”).

Ordinary Resolution 5
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 THAT such approval on the Proposed General Mandate shall continue to be in 
force until:

a. the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company held 
after the approval was given; 

b. the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company is required to be held after the approval was given; or 

c. revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company 
in a general meeting,

whichever is the earlier.

 THAT all and any pre-emptive rights of the shareholders of the Company pursuant 
to Section 85 of the Act, Clause 12(3) of the Constitution of the Company and/
or Paragraph 7.08 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, 
to be offered new shares ranking equally to the existing issued shares of the 
Company arising from the issuance of New Shares pursuant to the Proposed 
General Mandate, be and are hereby waived or deemed to have been waived, 
in full, by the shareholders of the Company.

 THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby also empowered to obtain 
the approval from Bursa Securities for the listing of and quotation for such New 
Shares on the Main Market of Bursa Securities.

 THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company, to 
give effect to the Proposed General Mandate with full powers to assent to any 
conditions, modifications, variations and/or amendments as they may deem fit 
in the best interest of the Company and/or as may be imposed by the relevant 
authorities.

 AND FURTHER THAT the Directors of the Company, be and are hereby 
authorised to implement, finalise, complete and take all necessary steps and to 
do all acts (including execute such documents as may be required), deeds and 
things in relation to the Proposed General Mandate.”

6. PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHARE BUY-BACK AUTHORITY

 “THAT subject always to the Companies Act 2016 (the “Act”), the Constitution of 
the Company, the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) (“Listing Requirements”) and all other applicable laws, 
guidelines, rules and regulations, the Company be and is hereby authorised, to 
the fullest extent permitted by law, to purchase such number of issued shares in 
the Company as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time 
to time through Bursa Securities upon such terms and conditions as the Directors 
may deem fit and expedient in the best interest of the Company provided that:

i. the aggregate number of issued shares in the Company (“Shares”) 
purchased (“Purchased Shares”) and/or held as treasury shares pursuant to 
this ordinary resolution does not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the total 
number of issued shares of the Company as quoted on Bursa Securities 
as at point of purchase; and

ii. the maximum fund to be allocated by the Company for the purpose of 
purchasing the shares shall not exceed the aggregate of the retained profits 
of the Company based on the latest audited financial statements and/or 
the latest management accounts (where applicable) available at the time 
of the purchase,

(“Proposed Share Buy-Back”).

Ordinary Resolution 6

notice of annual General Meeting (Cont’d)
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 AND THAT the authority to facilitate the Proposed Share Buy-Back will 
commence immediately upon passing of this Ordinary Resolution and will 
continue to be in force until:

a. the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company 
following this AGM at which this resolution was passed, at which time the 
said authority shall lapse unless by an ordinary resolution passed at the 
next AGM, the authority is renewed, either unconditionally or subject to 
conditions; 

b. the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting 
of the Company is required by law to be held; or

c. revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of 
the Company at a general meeting, 

 whichever occurs first, but shall not prejudice the completion of purchase(s) 
by the Company of its own Shares before the aforesaid expiry date and, in any 
event, in accordance with the Listing Requirements and any applicable laws, 
rules, regulations, orders, guidelines and requirements issued by any relevant 
authorities. 

  
 AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised, at their 

discretion, to deal with the Purchased Shares until all the Purchased Shares have 
been dealt with by the Directors in the following manner as may be permitted 
by the Act, Listing Requirements, applicable laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, 
requirements and/or orders of any relevant authorities for the time being in 
force: 

i. To cancel all or part of the Purchased Shares;

ii. To retain all or part of the Purchased Shares as treasury shares as defined 
in Section 127 of the Act;

iii. To distribute all or part of the treasury shares as dividends to the 
shareholders of the Company;

iv. To resell all or part of the treasury shares;

v. To transfer all or part of the treasury shares for the purposes of or under 
the employees’ share scheme established by the Company and/or its 
subsidiaries;

vi. To transfer all or part of the treasury shares as purchase consideration;

vii. To sell, transfer or otherwise use the shares for such other purposes as 
the Minister charged with the responsibility for companies may by order 
prescribe; and/or

viii. To deal with the treasury shares in any other manners as allowed by the 
Act, Listing Requirements, applicable laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, 
requirements and/or orders of any relevant authorities for the time being 
in force.

notice of annual General Meeting (Cont’d)
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 AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are authorised to take all such 
steps as are necessary or expedient [including without limitation, the opening and 
maintaining of central depository account(s) under Securities Industry (Central 
Depositories) Act, 1991, and the entering into all other agreements, arrangements 
and guarantee with any party or parties] to implement, finalise and give full effect 
to the Proposed Share Buy-Back with full powers to assent to any conditions, 
modifications, variations and/or amendments (if any) as may be imposed by the 
relevant authorities.”

7. ISSUANCE AND ALLOTMENT OF NEW ORDINARY SHARES IN 
SALUTICA (“NEW SALUTICA SHARES”) PURSUANT TO THE DIVIDEND 
REINVESTMENT PLAN (“DRP”) THAT PROVIDES THE SHAREHOLDERS 
OF SALUTICA (“SHAREHOLDERS”) WITH THE OPTION TO REINVEST 
THEIR DIVIDEND TO WHICH THE DRP APPLIES, IN NEW SALUTICA 
SHARES (“ISSUANCE OF NEW SALUTICA SHARES PURSUANT TO DRP”)     

 “THAT pursuant to the DRP as approved by the Shareholders at the Eighth 
Annual General Meeting held on 23 November 2020, and subject to the 
approvals of relevant regulatory authorities, where required, and the provisions 
of the Companies Act 2016, approval be and is hereby given to the Company 
to issue and allot such number of new Salutica Shares from time to time as may 
be required to be issued and allotted pursuant to the DRP until the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting, upon such terms and conditions and to 
such persons as the Directors, may in their absolute discretion, deem fit and in 
the best interest of the Company; 

 THAT the issue price of the said new Salutica Shares shall be fixed by the 
Directors at a discount of not more than ten per cent (10%) to the five (5)-day 
volume weighted average market price (“VWAMP”) of Salutica Shares immediately 
prior to the price-fixing date, of which the VWAMP shall be adjusted ex-dividend 
before applying the abovementioned discount in fixing the issue price;

 AND THAT the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to do 
all such acts and enter into all such transactions, arrangements and documents 
as may be necessary or expedient in order to give full effect to the DRP with full 
power to assent to any conditions, modifications, variations and/or amendments 
to the terms of  the DRP as the Directors may deem fit, necessary and/or 
expedient in the best interest of the Company or as may be imposed or agreed 
to by any relevant authorities or consequent upon the implementation of the said 
conditions, modifications, variations and/or amendments and to take all steps 
as they consider necessary in connection with the DRP.”

Ordinary Resolution 7

8. To transact any other business for which due notice is given in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2016 and the Constitution of the Company.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

CHONG LAY KIM (SSM PC NO. 202008001920) (LS 0008373)
WONG YEE LENG (SSM PC NO. 202108000545) (LS 0010568)
CHAN SHOOK LING (SSM PC NO. 202008004150) (MIA 17167)
Secretaries 

Ipoh
27 October 2022

notice of annual General Meeting (Cont’d)
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Notes:-

1. IMPORTANT NOTICE

 Shareholders WILL NOT attend the 10th AGM in person on the day of the meeting..
 
 Shareholders are to attend, speak (in the form of real time submission of typed texts) and vote (collectively, 

“participate”) remotely at the 10th AGM using the Remote Participation and Voting facilities (“RPV”) provided by 
Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn. Bhd. via its TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online.

 Please read these Notes carefully and follow the procedures in the Administrative Guide for 10th AGM 
in order to participate remotely via RPV.

2. For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to participate in this AGM, the Company shall be requesting 
Bursa Malaysia Depository Sdn Bhd to make available to the Company, a Record of Depositors as at 18 
November 2022. Only a member whose name appears on this Record of Depositors shall be entitled to 
participate in this AGM via RPV.

 
3. A member who is entitled to participate in this AGM via RPV is entitled to appoint a proxy or attorney or in 

the case of a corporation, to appoint a duly authorised representative to participate in his/her place. A proxy 
may but need not be a member of the Company.

 
4. A member of the Company who is entitled to participate at a general meeting of the Company may appoint 

not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote instead of the member at the general meeting.
 
5. Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central 

Depositories) Act 1991 (“Central Depositories Act”), it may appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect 
of each securities account it holds in ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said 
securities account.

6. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the 
Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the 
number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it 
holds. An exempt authorised nominee refers to an authorised nominee defined under the Central Depositories 
Act which is exempted from compliance with the provisions of Section 25A(1) of the Central Depositories 
Act.

 
7. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the proportion of shareholdings to be represented by 

each proxy must be specified in the instrument appointing the proxies.
 
8. A member who has appointed a proxy or attorney or authorised representative to participate at the AGM via 

RPV must request his/her proxy or attorney or authorised representative to register himself/herself for RPV 
via TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online. Procedures for RPV can be found in the Administrative Guide 
for 10th AGM. 

 
9. The appointment of a proxy may be made in a hard copy form or by electronic means in the following manner 

and must be received by the Company not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for 
holding the AGM or adjourned general meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to 
vote:

 
(i) In hard copy form
 In the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, the form of proxy must be deposited with the 

Company’s	Share	Registrar	at	Tricor	Investor	&	Issuing	House	Services	Sdn.	Bhd.,	Unit	32-01,	Level	32,	
Tower A, Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, 
Malaysia	or	alternatively,	the	Customer	Service	Centre	at	Unit	G-3,	Ground	Floor,	Vertical	Podium,	Avenue	
3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

  
(ii) By electronics means
 The form of proxy can be electronically lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar via TIIH Online at  

https://tiih.online.
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10. Any authority pursuant to which such an appointment is made by a power of attorney must be deposited with the 
Company’s	Share	Registrar	at	Tricor	Investor	&	Issuing	House	Services	Sdn.	Bhd.,	Unit	32-01,	Level	32,	Tower	
A, Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia or 
alternatively,	the	Customer	Service	Centre	at	Unit	G-3,	Ground	Floor,	Vertical	Podium,	Avenue	3,	Bangsar	South,	
No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed 
for holding the AGM or adjourned General Meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to 
vote.  A copy of the power of attorney may be accepted provided that it is certified notarially and/or in accordance 
with the applicable legal requirements in the relevant jurisdiction in which it is executed.

11. Please ensure ALL the particulars as required in the form of proxy are completed, signed and dated accordingly. 

12. Last date and time for lodging the form of proxy is Wednesday, 23 November 2022 at 10.30 a.m..

13. For a corporate member who has appointed an authorised representative, please deposit the ORIGINAL certificate 
of appointment of authorised representative with the Share Registrar of the Company at Tricor Investor & Issuing 
House	Services	Sdn.	Bhd.,	Unit	32-01,	Level	32,	Tower	A,	Vertical	Business	Suite,	Avenue	3,	Bangsar	South,	
No.	8,	Jalan	Kerinchi,	59200	Kuala	Lumpur,	Malaysia	or	alternatively,	the	Customer	Service	Centre	at	Unit	G-3,	
Ground Floor, Vertical Podium, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 
The certificate of appointment of authorised representative should be executed in the following manner:

 
i. If the corporate member has a common seal, the certificate of appointment of authorised representative 

should be executed under seal in accordance with the constitution of the corporate member.
  
ii. If the corporate member does not have a common seal, the certificate of appointment of authorised 

representative should be affixed with the rubber stamp of the corporate member (if any) and executed by:
  

a. at least two (2) authorised officers, of whom one shall be a director; or
b. any director and/or authorised officers in accordance with the laws of the country under which the 

corporate member is incorporated.
 
14. Shareholders are advised to check the Company’s website at www.salutica.com and announcements from 

time to time for any changes to the administration of the 10th AGM that may be necessitated by changes to the 
directives, safety and precautionary requirements and guidelines prescribed by the Government of Malaysia, the 
Ministry of Health, the Malaysian National Security Council, Securities Commission Malaysia and/or other relevant 
authorities.

Explanatory Notes on the Ordinary Business

1. Agenda item no. 1 is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 
does not require a formal approval of shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements.  Hence, this item on the 
Agenda is not put forward for voting.

2. Ordinary Resolution 1 
Directors’ Fees for the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022

 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 1 is to facilitate the payment of Directors’ fees for the Group for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2022.  

 

notice of annual General Meeting (Cont’d)



163

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Explanatory Notes on the Ordinary Business (Cont’d)

3. Ordinary Resolutions 2 and 3 
Re-election of Directors pursuant to Clause 76(3) of the Company’s Constitution

 
 Mr. Joshua Lim Phan Yih and Mr. Low Teng Lum, who are standing for re-election as Directors and being eligible, 

have offered themselves for re-election at the Tenth Annual General Meeting.

 The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has through the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”), considered 
the performance and contribution of each of the retiring Directors and collectively agreed that they meet the criteria 
prescribed by Paragraph 2.20A of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
(“MMLR”) on skill, expertise, experience, professionalism, commitment, integrity, character, competence and time 
to effectively discharge their role as Directors.

 The Board has endorsed the NRC’s recommendation to seek shareholders’ approval for the re-election of the 
retiring Directors. 

 The details and profiles of Directors seeking re-election are set out in the Profile of Directors section of the 
Company’s Annual Report 2022 at pages 7 and 9.

 
4. Ordinary Resolution 4 

Re-appointment of Messrs Crowe Malaysia PLT as Auditors of the Company

 The Board and the Audit and Risk Management Committee had considered the experience, fee and engagement 
proposal, the suitability and independence of the auditors and recommended the re-appointment of Messrs Crowe 
Malaysia PLT as Auditors of the Company.

Explanatory Notes on the Special Business
 
1. Ordinary Resolution 5 

Authority to issue and allot shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016
 
 The proposed ordinary resolution, if passed, will empower the Directors to issue and allot shares of the Company 

from time to time and to grant rights to subscribe for shares in the Company, convert any securities into shares in 
the Company, or allot shares under an agreement or option or offer, provided that the aggregate number of such 
shares allotted pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares) of the Company for the time being (“Proposed General Mandate”).

 The authority for the Proposed General Mandate will, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general 
meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) or the expiration of the period within 
which the next AGM is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

 This proposed resolution is a renewal of the previous year’s mandate. The mandate is to provide flexibility to the 
Company to issue new securities without the need to convene separate general meeting to obtain its shareholders’ 
approval so as to avoid incurring additional costs and time. 

 The purpose of the Proposed General Mandate, if passed, will enable the Directors to take swift action in case of 
a need to issue and allot new shares in the Company for fund raising exercise including but not limited to further 
placement of shares for purpose of funding current and/or future investment projects, working capital, acquisitions 
and/or for issuance of shares as settlement of purchase consideration, or other circumstances arise which involve 
grant of rights to subscribe for shares, conversion of any securities into shares, or allotment of shares under an 
agreement or option or offer, or such other application as the Directors may deem fit in the best interest of the 
Company.

 As at the date of this notice, the Company did not implement its proposal for new allotment of shares under 
the general mandate pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016 which was approved by the 
shareholders at the Ninth AGM held on 25 November 2021 and will lapse at the conclusion of the Tenth AGM to be 
held on 25 November 2022.  As at the date of this notice, there is no decision to issue new shares. Should there 
be a decision to issue new shares after the general mandate is sought, the Company will make an announcement 
of the actual purpose and utilisation of proceeds arising from such issuance of shares.
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2. Ordinary Resolution 6 
Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority

 
 This proposed Ordinary Resolution 6, if passed, will empower the Directors to purchase up to ten per centum 

(10%) of the total number of issued shares of the Company through Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. Please 
refer to the Statement to Shareholders dated 27 October 2022 for further information.

 
3. Ordinary Resolution 7 

To issue and allot shares in relation to the Dividend Reinvestment Plan 

 Dividend Reinvestment Plan would strengthen the Company’s capital position. The reinvestment of dividend 
entitlements by shareholders for new Company shares will enlarge the Company’s share capital and strengthen 
its	capital	position	for	future	growth.	Under	Dividend	Reinvestment	Plan,	the	cash	that	would	otherwise	be	paid	
out by way of dividend will be preserved to fund the working capital and/or capital funding requirements of the 
Company and the Group.  

 
 This resolution, if passed, will give the authority to the Directors to issue and allot new Salutica Shares pursuant 

to the Dividend Reinvestment Plan in respect of dividends that may be declared after this AGM out of profits of 
the Company available if the Company is solvent pursuant to Sections 131 and 132 of the Companies Act 2016, 
and such authority shall expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.

STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING NOTICE OF TENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

(Pursuant to paragraph 8.27(2) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad)

Details of individuals who are standing for election as Directors (excluding directors standing for re-election)
 
No individual is seeking election as a Director at the forthcoming Tenth Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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adMiniStrative
GUide
For tentH annual General MeetinG (“10tH aGM”) 

Date : Friday, 25 November 2022
Time : 10.30 a.m.
Online Meeting Platform :  TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online provided by Tricor Investor & Issuing 

House Services Sdn. Bhd.

PRECAUTIONARY MEASURES AGAINST THE CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (“COVID-19”) AND MODE 
OF MEETING

•	 In	light	of	the	COVID-19	situation	and	as	part	of	the	safety	measures,	the	Company	has	decided	to	conduct	the	
10th AGM fully virtual through online meeting platform via TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online provided by 
Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn. Bhd. This is in line with the Guidance Note and Frequently Asked 
Questions on the Conduct of General Meetings for Listed Issuers revised by the Securities Commission Malaysia 
on 7 April 2022 (“Revised Guidance Note and FAQ”), including any amendment that may be made from time to 
time. 

•	 Pursuant	to	the	Revised	Guidance	and	FAQ,	the	online	meeting	platform	used	to	conduct	the	meeting	can	be	
recognised as the meeting venue or place under Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”) provided 
that the online platform is located in Malaysia.

SHAREHOLDERS’ PARTICIPATION AT THE 10TH AGM VIA REMOTE PARTICIPATION AND VOTING 
FACILITIES (“RPV”)

•	 Shareholders	are	 to	attend,	 speak	 (in	 the	 form	of	 real	 time	submission	of	 typed	 texts)	 and	vote	 (collectively,	
“participate”) remotely at the10th AGM using the RPV provided by Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn. 
Bhd. (“Tricor”).

•	 The	RPV	are	available	on	Tricor’s	TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online. 

•	 We	strongly encourage you to participate the 10th AGM via the RPV. You may also consider appointing the 
Chairman of the meeting as your proxy to attend and vote on your behalf at the 10th AGM.

•	 Kindly	refer	to	Procedures	for	RPV	as	set	out	below	for	the	requirements	and	procedures.	

PROCEDURES FOR RPV

•	 Please	read	and	follow	the	procedures	below	to	engage	in	remote	participation	through	live	streaming	and	online	
remote voting at the 10th AGM using the RPV:-

Procedure Action

BEFORE THE 10TH AGM DAY

i. Register as a user
 with TIIH Online

•	 Using	your	computer,	access	the	website	at	https://tiih.online. Register as a user 
under the “e-Services” by selecting “Create Account by Individual Holder”. 
Refer to the tutorial guide posted on the homepage for assistance.

•	 Registration	as	a	user	will	be	approved	within	one	(1)	working	day	and	you	will	
be notified via email.

•	 If	you	are	already	a	user	with	TIIH	Online,	you	are	not	required	to	register	again.	
•	 You	will	receive	an	email	to	notify	you	that	the	remote	participation	is	available	

for registration at TIIH Online. 
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Procedure Action

BEFORE THE 10TH AGM DAY (CONT’D)

ii. Submit your
 request to attend
 10th AGM remotely

•	 Registration	is	open	from	10.30	a.m.	Thursday,	27	October	2022	until	the	day	of	
10th AGM on Friday, 25 November 2022. Shareholder(s) or proxy(ies) or corporate 
representative(s) or attorney(s) are required to pre-register their attendance for 
the 10th AGM to ascertain their eligibility to participate the 10th AGM using the 
RPV facilities.

•	 Login	with	your	user	ID	(i.e.	email	address)	and	password	and	select	the	corporate	
event: “(Registration) Salutica Berhad 10th AGM”.

•	 Read	and	agree	to	the	Terms	&	Conditions	and	confirm	the	Declaration.
•	 Select	“Register	for	Remote	Participation	and	Voting”.
•	 Review	your	registration	and	proceed	to	register.
•	 System	will	send	an	email to notify that your registration for remote participation 

is received and will be verified.
•	 After	verification	of	your	registration	against	the	Record	of	Depositors	as	at	18	

November 2022, the system will send you an email after 23 November 2022 
to approve or reject your registration for remote participation.

(Note: Please allow sufficient time for approval of new user of TIIH Online and 
registration for the RPV).

ON THE 10TH AGM DAY

i. Login to TIIH Online •	 Login	with	your	user	ID	and	password	for	remote	participation	at	the	10th AGM 
at any time from 9.30 a.m., i.e. 1 hour before the commencement of meeting at 
10.30 a.m. on Friday, 25 November 2022.

ii. Participate through
 live streaming

•	 Select	 the	 corporate	 event:	 “(Live Stream Meeting) Salutica Berhad 10th 
AGM” to engage in the proceedings of the 10th AGM remotely.

 If you have any question for the Chairman/Board, you may use the query box 
to transmit your question. The Chairman/Board will try to respond to questions 
submitted by remote participants during the 10th AGM. If there is time constraint, 
the responses will be emailed to you at the earliest possible, after the meeting.

iii. Online remote
 voting

•	 Voting	session	commences	from	10.30 a.m. on Friday, 25 November 2022 
until a time when the Chairman announces the end of the voting session. 

•	 Select	the	corporate	event:	“(Remote Voting) Salutica Berhad 10th AGM” or 
if you are on the live stream meeting page, you can select “GO TO REMOTE 
VOTING PAGE” button below the Query Box. 

•	 Read	and	agree	to	the	Terms	&	Conditions	and	confirm	the	Declaration.
•	 Select	the	CDS	account	that	represents	your	shareholdings.
•	 Indicate	your	votes	for	the	resolutions	that	are	tabled	for	voting.
•	 Confirm	and	submit	your	votes.

iv. End of remote
 participation

•	 Upon	the	announcement	by	the	Chairman	on	the	conclusion	of	the	10th AGM, 
the live streaming will end.

NOTE TO USERS OF THE RPV:-

(i) Should your registration for RPV be approved, we will make available to you the rights to join the live stream 
meeting and to vote remotely. Your login to TIIH Online on the day of meeting will indicate your presence 
at the virtual meeting.

(ii) The quality of your connection to the live broadcast is dependent on the bandwidth and stability of the 
internet at your location and the device you use.

(iii) In the event you encounter any issues with logging-in, connection to the live stream meeting or online voting 
on the meeting day, kindly call Tricor Help Line at 011-4080 5616 / 011-4080 3168 / 011-4080 3169 / 
011-4080 3170 or email to tiih.online@my.tricorglobal.com for assistance.
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ENTITLEMENT TO PARTICIPATE AND APPOINTMENT OF PROXY OR ATTORNEY OR CORPORATE 
REPRESENTATIVE

•	 Only	members	whose	names	appear	on	the	Record	of	Depositors	(“ROD”)	as	at	18 November 2022 shall be 
entitled to attend, speak (in the form of real time submission of typed texts) and vote in the 10th AGM or appoint a 
proxy(ies)/ corporate representative(s)/attorney(s) and/or the Chairman of the Meeting to attend and vote on his/
her behalf. 

•	 In	view	that	the	10th AGM will be conducted on a fully virtual basis, a member can appoint the Chairman of the 
Meeting as his/her proxy and indicate the voting instruction in the Form of Proxy. 

•	 If	you	wish	to	participate	in	the	10th AGM yourself, please do not submit any Form of Proxy for the 10th AGM. You 
will not be allowed to participate in the 10th AGM together with a proxy appointed by you.

•	 Accordingly,	Form	of	Proxy	and/or	documents	 relating	 to	 the	appointment	of	proxy/corporate	 representative/
attorney for the 10th AGM whether in hard copy or by electronic means shall be deposited or submitted in the 
following manner not later than Wednesday, 23 November 2022 at 10.30 a.m.:-

(i) In hard copy:-

  By hand or post to the office of the Share Registrar, Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn. Bhd. at 
Unit	32-01,	Level	32,	Tower	A,	Vertical	Business	Suite,	Avenue	3,	Bangsar	South,	No.	8,	Jalan	Kerinchi,	
59200	Kuala	Lumpur	or	its	Customer	Service	Centre	at	Unit	G-3,	Ground	Floor,	Vertical	Podium,	Avenue	
3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur;

(ii) By electronic form:-

  All shareholders can have the option to submit Form of Proxy electronically via TIIH Online and the steps 
to submit are summarised below:-

Procedure Action

I. Steps for Individual Shareholders

Register	as	a	User
with TIIH Online

•	 Using	 your	 computer,	 please	 access	 the	website	 at	https://tiih.online.  
Register as a user under the “e-Services”. Please refer to the tutorial guide 
posted on the homepage for assistance. 

•	 If	you	are	already	a	user	with	TIIH	Online,	you	are	not	required	to	register	
again.

Proceed with
submission of
Form of Proxy

•	 After	the	release	of	the	Notice	of	Meeting	by	the	Company,	login	with	your	
user name (i.e. email address) and password. 

•	 Select	the	corporate	event:	“Salutica Berhad 10th AGM - Submission 
of Proxy Form”. 

•	 Read	and	agree	to	the	Terms	&	Conditions	and	confirm	the	Declaration.	
•	 Insert	your	CDS	account	number	and	indicate	the	number	of	shares	for	

your proxy(ies) to vote on your behalf. 
•	 Indicate	your	voting	instructions	–	FOR	or	AGAINST,	otherwise	your	proxy	

will decide on your votes. 
•	 Review	and	confirm	your	proxy(ies)	appointment.	
•	 Print	the	Form	of	Proxy	for	your	record.	
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Procedure Action

II. Steps for Corporation or Institutional Shareholders

Register	as	a	User
with TIIH Online

•	 Access	TIIH	Online	at	https://tiih.online.  
•	 Under	 e-Services,	 the	 authorised	 or	 nominated	 representative	 of	 the	

corporation or institutional shareholder selects “Create Account by 
Representative of Corporate Holder”. 

•	 Complete	the	registration	form	and	upload	the	required	documents.
•	 Registration	will	be	verified,	and	you	will	be	notified	by	email	within	one	(1)	

to two (2) working days.
•	 Proceed	to	activate	your	account	with	the	temporary	password	given	in	

the email and re-set your own password.

Note: The representative of a corporation or institutional shareholder must 
register as a user in accordance with the above steps before he/she can 
subscribe to this corporate holder electronic proxy submission.  Please contact 
our Share Registrar, Tricor, if you need clarifications on the user registration.

Proceed with
submission of
Form of Proxy

•	 Login	to	TIIH	Online	at	https://tiih.online.  
•	 Select	 the	 corporate	 exercise	 name:	 “Salutica Berhad 10th AGM - 

Submission of Proxy Form”
•	 Agree	to	the	Terms	&	Conditions	and	Declaration.
•	 Proceed	to	download	the	file	format	for	“Submission of Proxy Form” in 

accordance with the Guidance Note set therein.
•	 Prepare	the	file	for	the	appointment	of	proxies	by	inserting	the	required	

data.
•	 Proceed	to	upload	the	duly	completed	proxy	appointment	file.
•	 Select	“Submit”	to	complete	your	submission.
•	 Print	the	confirmation	report	of	your	submission	for	your	record.

 
VOTING AT MEETING

•	 The	voting	at	the	10th AGM will be conducted on a poll pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A of the Main Market Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”). The Company has appointed Tricor to 
conduct the poll voting and Coopers Professional Scrutineers Sdn. Bhd. as Independent Scrutineers to verify the 
poll results.

•	 Shareholders	or	proxy(ies)	or	corporate	representative(s)	or	attorney(s)	can	proceed	to	vote	on	the	resolutions	
before the end of the voting session which will be announced by the Chairman of the Meeting and submit your 
votes at any time from the commencement of the 10th AGM at 10.30 a.m. Kindly refer to “Procedures for RPV” 
provided above for guidance on how to vote remotely via TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online.

•	 Upon	completion	of	the	voting	session	for	10th AGM, the Scrutineers will verify the poll results followed by the 
Chairman’s declaration whether the resolutions are duly passed.

RESULTS OF THE VOTING

•	 The	resolutions	proposed	at	the	10th AGM and the results of the voting will be announced at the 10th AGM and 
subsequently via an announcement made by the Company through Bursa Malaysia at www.bursamalaysia.com.
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NO DOOR GIFT 

•	 There	will	be	no	distribution	of	door	gifts	for	the	10th AGM. 

•	 The	Company	would	like	to	thank	all	its	shareholders	for	their	co-operation	and	understanding	in	these	challenging	
times.

PRE-MEETING SUBMISSION OF QUESTIONS TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

•	 In	order	to	enhance	the	efficiency	of	the	proceedings	of	the	10th AGM, shareholders may in advance, before 
the 10th AGM, submit questions to the Board of Directors via Tricor’s TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online, 
by selecting “e-Services” to login, post your questions and submit it electronically no later than Wednesday, 
23 November 2022 at 10.30 a.m. The Board of Directors will endeavor to address the questions received at 
the 10th AGM.

ANNUAL REPORT

•	 The	Annual	Report	is	available	on	the	Company’s	website	at	www.salutica.com and Bursa Malaysia’s website at 
www.bursamalaysia.com under Company’s announcements. 

•	 You	may	request	for	a	printed	copy	of	the	Annual	Report	at	https://tiih.online by selecting “Request for Annual 
Report / Circular” under the “Investor Services”.

•	 Kindly	consider	the	environment	before	you	decide	to	request	for	the	printed	copy	of	the	Annual	Report.	The	
environmental concerns like global warming, deforestation, climate change and many more affect every human, 
animal and nation on this planet.

ENQUIRY

•	 If	you	have	any	enquiry	prior	to	the	meeting,	please	call	our	Share	Registrar,	Tricor	at	+603-2783	9299	during	
office hours, i.e. from 8.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. (Monday to Friday).
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*I/We  Tel: 
 (Full name in block, NRIC/Passport/Company No)

of 
 (Full Address)

being member(s) of Salutica Berhad hereby appoint:

Full Name (in Block) NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

*and/or

Full Name (in Block) NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing him, the Chairperson of the Meeting, as *my/our proxy/proxies to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at 
the Tenth Annual General Meeting (“10th AGM”) of the Company, which will be conducted fully virtual through the online 
meeting platform via TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online or https://tiih.com.my (Domain registration number with 
MYNIC:D1A282781) provided by Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn. Bhd. in Malaysia on Friday, 25 November 
2022 at 10.30 a.m. or any adjournment thereof, and to vote as indicated below:

Resolution Agenda FOR AGAINST

1 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees

2 To re-elect Mr. Joshua Lim Phan Yih as Director

3 To re-elect Mr. Low Teng Lum as Director

4 To re-appoint Messrs Crowe Malaysia PLT as Auditors and to authorise the 
Directors to fix their remuneration

5 Authority to Issue and Allot Shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the 
Companies Act 2016

6 Proposed Renewal of Share Buy-Back Authority

7 Issuance and Allotment of Shares pursuant to Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Please indicate with an “X” in the space provided whether you wish your votes to be cast for or against the resolutions. 
In the absence of specific direction, your proxy will vote or abstain as he thinks fit.

Signed this  day of  2022

 Signature/Common Seal of Member^

* Delete whichever is inapplicable

^ Manner of execution:

(a) If you are an individual member, please sign where indicated.
(b) If you are a corporate member which has a common seal, this proxy form should be executed under seal in accordance with the constitution of 

your corporation.
(c) If you are a corporate member which does not have a common seal, this proxy form should be affixed with the rubber stamp of your company 

(if any) and executed by:
(i) at least two (2) authorised officers, of whom one shall be a director; or
(ii) any director and/or authorised officers in accordance with the laws of the country under which your corporation is incorporated.

SALUTICA BERHAD
(Registration No. 201201040303 (1024781-T))

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

CDS Account No.

No. of shares held

proXy fOrm

✄



Notes:-

1. IMPORTANT NOTICE

Shareholders WILL NOT attend the 10th AGM in person on the day of the meeting.

 Shareholders are to attend, speak (in the form of real time submission of typed texts) and vote (collectively, “participate”) remotely at the 10th AGM 
using the Remote Participation and Voting facilities (“RPV”) provided by Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn. Bhd. via its TIIH Online 
website at https://tiih.online.

 Please read these Notes carefully and follow the procedures in the Administrative Guide for 10th AGM in order to participate remotely 
via RPV.

2. For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to participate in this AGM, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository 
Sdn Bhd to make available to the Company, a Record of Depositors as at 18 November 2022. Only a member whose name appears on this 
Record of Depositors shall be entitled to participate in this AGM via RPV.

3. A member who is entitled to participate in this AGM via RPV is entitled to appoint a proxy or attorney or in the case of a corporation, to appoint 
a duly authorised representative to participate in his/her place. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company.

4. A member of the Company who is entitled to participate at a general meeting of the Company may appoint not more than two (2) proxies to 
attend and vote instead of the member at the general meeting.

5. Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined in the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 (“Central 
Depositories Act”), it may appoint not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities account it holds in ordinary shares of the Company 
standing to the credit of the said securities account.

6. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners 
in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in 
respect of each omnibus account it holds. An exempt authorised nominee refers to an authorised nominee defined under the Central Depositories 
Act which is exempted from compliance with the provisions of Section 25A(1) of the Central Depositories Act.

7. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each proxy must be specified in the 
instrument appointing the proxies.

8. A member who has appointed a proxy or attorney or authorised representative to participate at the AGM via RPV must request his/her proxy or 
attorney or authorised representative to register himself/herself for RPV via TIIH Online website at https://tiih.online.  Procedures for RPV can be 
found in the Administrative Guide for 10th AGM. 

9. The appointment of a proxy may be made in a hard copy form or by electronic means in the following manner and must be received by the 
Company not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM or adjourned general meeting at which the person 
named in the appointment proposes to vote:

(i) In hard copy form
 In the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, the form of proxy must be deposited with the Company’s Share Registrar at Tricor 

Investor	&	Issuing	House	Services	Sdn.	Bhd.,	Unit	32-01,	Level	32,	Tower	A,	Vertical	Business	Suite,	Avenue	3,	Bangsar	South,	No.	8,	
Jalan	Kerinchi,	59200	Kuala	Lumpur,	Malaysia	or	alternatively,	the	Customer	Service	Centre	at	Unit	G-3,	Ground	Floor,	Vertical	Podium,	
Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

(ii) By electronics means 
 The form of proxy can be electronically lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar via TIIH Online at https://tiih.online.  

10. Any authority pursuant to which such an appointment is made by a power of attorney must be deposited with the Company’s Share Registrar 
at	Tricor	Investor	&	Issuing	House	Services	Sdn.	Bhd.,	Unit	32-01,	Level	32,	Tower	A,	Vertical	Business	Suite,	Avenue	3,	Bangsar	South,	No.	8,	
Jalan	Kerinchi,	59200	Kuala	Lumpur,	Malaysia	or	alternatively,	the	Customer	Service	Centre	at	Unit	G-3,	Ground	Floor,	Vertical	Podium,	Avenue	
3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding 
the AGM or adjourned General Meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote.  A copy of the power of attorney may 
be accepted provided that it is certified notarially and/or in accordance with the applicable legal requirements in the relevant jurisdiction in which 
it is executed.

11. Please ensure ALL the particulars as required in the form of proxy are completed, signed and dated accordingly. 

12. Last date and time for lodging the form of proxy is Wednesday, 23 November 2022 at 10.30 a.m.

13. For a corporate member who has appointed an authorised representative, please deposit the ORIGINAL certificate of appointment of authorised 
representative	with	the	Share	Registrar	of	the	Company	at	Tricor	Investor	&	Issuing	House	Services	Sdn.	Bhd.,	Unit	32-01,	Level	32,	Tower	A,	
Vertical Business Suite, Avenue 3, Bangsar South, No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia or alternatively, the Customer Service 
Centre	at	Unit	G-3,	Ground	Floor,	Vertical	Podium,	Avenue	3,	Bangsar	South,	No.	8,	Jalan	Kerinchi,	59200	Kuala	Lumpur,	Malaysia.	The	certificate	
of appointment of authorised representative should be executed in the following manner:

i. If the corporate member has a common seal, the certificate of appointment of authorised representative should be executed under seal 
in accordance with the constitution of the corporate member.

ii. If the corporate member does not have a common seal, the certificate of appointment of authorised representative should be affixed with 
the rubber stamp of the corporate member (if any) and executed by:

a. at least two (2) authorised officers, of whom one shall be a director; or
b. any director and/or authorised officers in accordance with the laws of the country under which the corporate member is incorporated.

14. Shareholders are advised to check the Company’s website at www.salutica.com and announcements from time to time for any changes to the 
administration of the 10th AGM that may be necessitated by changes to the directives, safety and precautionary requirements and guidelines 
prescribed by the Government of Malaysia, the Ministry of Health, the Malaysian National Security Council, Securities Commission Malaysia and/
or other relevant authorities.



AFFIX
STAMP

Fold this flap for sealing

Then fold here

1st fold here

✄

Share Registrar
Tricor Investor & Issuing House Services Sdn. Bhd.
(Registration No. 197101000970 (11324-H))

Unit	32-01,	Level	32
Tower A, Vertical Business Suite
Avenue 3, Bangsar South
No. 8, Jalan Kerinchi
59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia 
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